
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

30 March 2010 

Tap Oil Limited 
ABN 89 068 572 341 

Level 1, 47 Colin Street 
West Perth WA 6005 
Australia 

T: +61 8 9485 1000 
F: +61 8 9485 1060 
E:  info@tapoil.com.au 

www.tapoil.com.au 
 

122037_1.DOCX 

 
The Company Announcements Platform 
Australian Securities Exchange 
Exchange Centre 
20 Bond Street 
SYDNEY NSW 2000 

 
 

2009 ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
Tap Oil Limited (“Company”) advises that the Annual Report for the year ending 
31 December 2009 has been dispatched to the Company’s shareholders. 
 
The abovementioned document can be downloaded from the Company’s website 
www.tapoil.com.au 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enquiries to: 
 

 
Peter Stickland (Managing Director/CEO) 
Telephone: +61 8 9485 1000 
Email: info@tapoil.com.au 
Website: www.tapoil.com.au 
 

 



Annual Report 

2009



Brunei Seismic Paves Way 
for Drilling

Tap conducted a signifi cant 2D and 3D 

Seismic survey in its onshore Brunei 

exploration permit, Block M. This survey 

work was undertaken in jungle terrain 

with over 1,000 personnel on the project. 

Analysis of this seismic revealed leads 

for drilling and two appraisal wells are 

planned to start in the second quarter of 

2010. Success will rapidly lead to further 

appraisal and development activity.

New Ventures Efforts 
Yield Results

The Rangkas PSC in Indonesia is an 

important addition to Tap’s exploration 

portfolio.

Acquisition of up to 500 km of 2D Seismic 

is planned for Rangkas during the 

coming year targeting a number of leads 

identifi ed in recent reviews of the block. 

Tap’s view is that there is signifi cant 

untested potential, including previously 

unrecognised deep targets analogous to 

proven production in adjacent blocks.

The quality of the Rangkas PSC 

demonstrates Tap’s ability to not only 

identify excellent opportunities which 

complement Tap’s existing portfolio, but 

to capture them.

Production and Revenue 
Outlook Bright

Tap’s production and revenue is poised 

for growth in 2010. The Woollybutt 

FPSO life extension work has now been 

completed with the vessel back on 

station and producing.

At HJV, gas, oil and condensate production 

is also at full rates. Both HJV and 

Woollybutt will provide Tap with exposure 

to oil prices which are expected to remain 

at solid levels over the coming year.

Tap continues to reap rewards from WA’s 

strong domestic gas market through its 

access to third party gas, which it on-

sells to customers. The revenue stream 

from third party gas sales provides 

stable, long term cash fl ows to sustain 

an active exploration program. 

The restructure of aspects of these third 

party sales will add further value to this 

aspect of Tap’s business in 2010.

2009 Highlights
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Production and Revenue 

Tap’s production and revenue is poised 

for growth in 2010. The Woollybutt 

FPSO life extension work has now been 

completed with the vessel back on 

At HJV, gas, oil and condensate production 

Woollybutt will provide Tap with exposure 

to oil prices which are expected to remain 

at solid levels over the coming year.

Tap continues to reap rewards from WA’s 

strong domestic gas market through its 

access to third party gas, which it on-

sells to customers. The revenue stream 

from third party gas sales provides 

stable, long term cash fl ows to sustain 

The restructure of aspects of these third 

party sales will add further value to this 

T47/P Bass Basin 
Potential Highgraded

Geological studies have identifi ed a 

number of leads, each with potential 

for recoverable oil volumes in the range 

of 10-50 mmstb. Drilling of at least one 

exploration well is planned for 2010.

Oil and gas discoveries in this permit 

have potential to be developed quickly 

due to the shallow water depth and 

proximity to infrastructure. Origin’s recent 

Rockhopper discovery in the adjacent 

T18/P permit demonstrates the potential 

of this northern region of the Bass Basin.

WA-351-P Continues 
to Excite

Work on this prized asset continues 

in order to allow Tap to unlock its 

signifi cant potential. Tap’s technical 

team has identifi ed multiple large size 

prospects and leads, which can be 

matured for drilling with a high chance 

of success.

Drilling in this highly prospective block is 

anticipated in 2011.
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Dear Shareholders,

Welcome to Tap’s 2009 Annual Report.

Your Company has charted a consistent course through a 

year of volatile economic conditions and company-specifi c 

challenges. Good progress was achieved and Tap will soon 

start an extensive and diversifi ed drilling program.

Signifi cant work was completed at Tap’s two producing 

assets during the year. This work will sustain the future 

performance of these assets although production was 

affected by signifi cant downtime in 2009. Repairs to the 

Varanus Island facilities were completed in mid 2009 and 

the Harriet Joint Venture fi elds have since returned to full 

production. The shipyard based life extension work on the 

Woollybutt FPSO was also completed during the year and 

production has now recommenced. The benefi ts of these 

rejuvenated projects will be seen in 2010 and beyond. 

Third party gas contracts continue to provide a strong, 

steady cash fl ow, which underpins our future plans, and we 

continue to look for further opportunities to enhance the 

value of our gas business. In addition, income was boosted 

after fi nal settlement of Tap’s insurance claims, which 

related to the 2008 Varanus Island incident. Focus on cost 

control resulted in net administrative costs being reduced 

by 35%. As a result of these and other achievements, Tap 

realised a 2009 profi t of over $6 million and increased our 

cash balance at year end to $59 million.

2009 exploration efforts were primarily focussed on 

maturing an attractive, diversifi ed drilling program for the 

next 18 months. This effort concentrated on advancing oil 

and gas exploration projects in Western Australia, Bass 

Strait, Brunei, and the Philippines as well as securing a new 

block in Indonesia. Tap held its exploration expenditure 

to $16 million for the year. These outcomes enhanced our 

cash position, which allowed Tap to consider alternative 

opportunities in an uncertain market.

Tap now holds a forward drilling portfolio with a mix of 

prospects in multiple geological play types covering oil, 

domestic gas and international LNG, located onshore and 

offshore, and in several countries. Tap’s main priority is the 

successful execution of the near to medium term drilling 

program. Drilling is likely to start in the second quarter of 

2010 with two onshore appraisal wells in Brunei on the 

Belait fi eld. An active program in other areas will follow 

over the rest of the year.

Attention is also paid to setting up opportunities for wells 

to be drilled in two to three years time and beyond our up 

coming program. Where possible, we look for entry at an 

early exploration stage with modest up-front exploration 

costs. The Rangkas block in Indonesia is a good example 

of Tap’s continuing efforts to identify and acquire such 

opportunities for future drilling.

The Board saw three changes during the year. Mr Peter 

Stickland, the Company’s CEO, was appointed Managing 

Director in February, Mr Paul Underwood, who had been 

the Company’s founding Managing Director, resigned as 

a Non-executive Director in June, and Mr Douglas Bailey 

was appointed as a Non-executive Director in November. 

My thanks go to Paul for his long service and numerous 

contributions to the Company and I welcome Peter and 

Doug to the Board. 

Lastly, I would like to thank Peter, his staff and my fellow 

Directors for their efforts in 2009 and look forward to the 

commencement of our drilling program.

Neale Taylor

Chairman

Neale Taylor, Chairman
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Settlement of the insurance claim relating to the Varanus 

Island incident provided the Company with a total claim 

amount of $21.7 million in relation to property damage and 

business interruption. This contributed to Tap’s strong cash 

position of $59 million at year end. 

With a healthy balance sheet and both production assets 

up and running, together with signifi cant cash infl ows from 

its third party gas business, Tap is in a strong position to 

capitalise on its exploration portfolio in 2010 and beyond.

View from Brunei Camp

Tap has made signifi cant progress on the key 
components of its business by optimising 
revenue, renewing infrastructure, reducing 
costs and ensuring that Tap has a well 
balanced exploration program that positions 
the Company poised for success.

During 2009, the Harriet Joint Venture facilities were 

reinstated to full capacity, the Woollybutt FPSO life 

extension project was substantially completed, and Tap’s 

employees worked diligently to place the exploration 

portfolio into a position where a number of signifi cant, 

independent prospects and play types can be drilled over 

the coming year and beyond. 

Business Review

Peter Stickland, MD/CEO
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SALES
Despite a weaker oil price environment in 2009 due to 

global economic conditions, the overall performance 

across Tap’s various income producing assets resulted 

in a year-end profit which exceeded the previous year. 

This performance saw a return to profitability following a 

disappointing result in 2008. In particular, third party gas 

sales hit record levels in 2009.

The increase in liquids sales to 419,000 bbls for the year 

was offset by lower average realised oil prices which fell 

from A$117.40/bbl in 2008 to A$73.88/bbl in 2009. Crude 

production was affected by the restoration project at 

Harriet where the facilities were fully reinstated during the 

year, and by the downtime associated with the Woollybutt 

FPSO life extension project.

Despite the significant increase in HJV liquids and gas 

production in 2009, some production and revenue 

was deferred as the restoration project progressed to 

completion. However, Tap maintains a comprehensive 

insurance program which provided $21.7 million in 

compensation in relation to the Varanus Island incident, 

around half of which related to deferred production. The 

balance represents reimbursement of the repair costs to 

the HJV facilities.

In addition, the increased use of the HJV facilities for tolling 

third party gas and condensate was reflected in higher 

tolling revenues for the period.

Third party gas sales have become an increasingly 

important revenue source for Tap. Tap has long-term 

contractual arrangements in place at fixed CPI-linked AUD 

prices, which will continue to deliver a consistent revenue 

stream until late 2016. The revenue stream from third party 

gas sales provides stable, long term cash flows to sustain 

Tap’s active exploration program.

The sales outlook for 2010 is strong due to the restoration 

of facilities which held back production volumes in 2009, 

expected growth in third party gas sales and an improved 

outlook for commodity prices.

2009 PERFORMANCE

Tap ended the year having earned a net profit after tax of $6.7 million, a significant turnaround from the preceding year and 

with a cash balance of $59 million and no debt.

2009 Production 2009 Sales 2009 2008

(TJ)  (’000 boe) (TJ)  (’000 boe) ($’000) ($’000)

HJV liquids 220 234 17,743 15,854 p 12%

Woollybutt oil 145 184 13,214 28,295 q 53%

Total liquids 365 419 30,957 44,149 q 30%

HJV sales gas 3,670 547 3,951 589 5,838 3,584 p 63%

Third party gas sales 2,599 387 17,224 13,417 p 28%

Total gas 3,670 547 6,550 976 23,062 17,001 p 36%

Tolling 3,999 231

Total sales 3,670 912 6,550 1,395 58,018 61,382 q 5%

NPAT 6,675 (7,546)
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Business Review

PRODUCTION

Tap’s share of oil and condensate production for the year 

ended 31 December 2009 totalled 365,000 bbls or 1,000 

bopd, and Tap’s share of gas production from the Harriet 

Joint Venture for the year totalled 3,670 TJ or 10 TJ/d.

Harriet Joint Venture (Tap 12.2229%)

2009 HJV oil and condensate production volumes of 

219,876 bbls were up from the previous year due to 

the incremental return to service of the Varanus Island 

processing facility. Varanus Island processing facility 

capacity increased throughout the fi rst half of the year 

reaching 100% of pre-incident capacity by mid year. 

Cumulative gas production in 2009 of 30.025 PJ was also 

up by 44% from the previous year due to Varanus Island 

facility availability. Gas processing capacity was back to 

design levels by June 2009 with gas contract volumes 

being produced throughout the report period.

The Varanus Island facility was returned to full capacity 

within one year of the Varanus Island incident. Joint Venture 

cooperation and close management of the project by 

the Operator resulted in the facility being returned to full 

capacity, on schedule and under budget.

Additional gas producing capacity was provided with the 

drilling and completion of the Lee-4 well which was tied in 

and commenced production in June 2009 at rates up to 40 

TJ/d.

Woollybutt Field (Tap 15%)

Production from the Woollybutt fi eld was stable and 

on budget until the planned shut in on 28 April 2009 to 

allow the Four Vanguard FPSO (recently renamed the 

Four Rainbow) to be taken to Singapore for extensive life 

extension work. This work will allow the vessel to remain 

on station until the end of the projected fi eld life. Following 

disconnection from the Woollybutt fi eld the Four Rainbow 

sailed to Singapore for shipyard and dry dock work which 

was completed in December 2009. 

Production recommenced in March 2010 with total 

estimated remaining oil reserves of 8.1 million barrels.

EXPLORATION

Overview & Upcoming Program

2009 was a year of consolidation and positioning for the 

future of Tap’s exploration and appraisal programs. Whilst 

partly due to the phasing of activities in key permits, the 

lower level of activities undertaken in 2009 refl ected Tap’s 

continued pursuit of those projects which have an attractive 

cost-risk-reward balance. 

Two appraisal wells were drilled in 2009, Linda North-1 

and Fletcher-4. Linda North-1 intersected gas bearing 

sands, however, pressure data confi rmed communication 

with other wells that are draining that part of the fi eld so 

Linda North-1 will not be tied in for production. Fletcher-4 

was sidetracked from the Fletcher-3 well bore in January 

2009. The target reservoir was water wet and the well was 

plugged and abandoned as planned. Work is ongoing 

in regard to the potential commerciality of the Fletcher 

discovery and developing a forward plan. 

Tap was very active on the seismic front with new 2D and 

3D surveys acquired and processed in Brunei Block M, 

processing was completed on the very large Aragon 3D 

survey acquired in 2008 in WA-351-P and reprocessing 

and inversion studies were carried out on the 3D Seismic 

surveys in SC 41 and WA-290-P. Seismic interpretation 

and a variety of supporting geological studies were carried 

out in these and other permits, resulting in signifi cant 

advances in Tap’s understanding of its exploration portfolio. 

Total exploration expenditure in 2009 was $16 million in 

accordance with Tap’s plans to limit exploration spend 

during the year. Tap exited Carnarvon Basin permits EP-358 

and EP-363 in 2009 due to their limited prospectivity.

Activities planned in 2010 include the drilling and 

acquisition of at least two wells in Brunei, one to two wells 

in T/47P, and potentially four exploration/appraisal wells 

and a major transition zone seismic survey in the HJV in 

the second half of 2010. In addition, a number of wells 

have been identifi ed as strong potential drilling candidates 

in several permits for later in the year, with fi nal decisions 

dependent on a range of technical, joint venture and timing 

considerations. 

Tap continues to seek quality growth opportunities that 

have the right balance of cost, risk and reward. Tap 

continues to monitor the cost of exploration activities 

closely. Although there has been a general slowdown in the 

global economy in recent years, this slowdown has not yet 

been refl ected in a reduction in oil industry costs.
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Philosophy

Tap views exploration as a primary means of value creation 

in the upstream petroleum sector. However, by its nature 

exploration is challenging. It requires highly qualifi ed, 

experienced employees in a variety of fi elds, access to 

good technology and suitable processes and systems to 

be in place and adhered to. Excellence at all levels of the 

Company is essential for success.

People

Quality geoscience, engineering and commercial analyses 

are fundamental to resource companies achieving success. 

Tap’s exploration team was further strengthened in 2009 

by the recruitment of two senior geoscientists and a senior 

reservoir engineer all with extensive experience in major oil 

and gas exploration and production companies. In addition 

to geoscientists and engineers, Tap’s exploration effort is 

supported by a variety of employees working ‘behind the 

scenes’ in fully integrated teams. 

Process

Tap places great emphasis on maintaining high technical 

standards and ensuring that the right jobs are done to an 

appropriate level of detail. Emphasis is placed on internal 

peer reviews as they enable prospects to be robustly and 

objectively assessed and the various disciplines to interface 

in a highly effective manner. 

Technology

State of the art technology enables the analysis of the 

huge volumes of technical data that modern exploration 

generates. In recent years, Tap has invested heavily in high-

end hardware and software as an ‘exploration enabler’.

Integration

Successful exploration requires the integration of people, 

process and technology as integrated teams ultimately 

make better decisions. Whilst achieving this can be a 

complex task, Tap believes that the systems and processes 

it has in place enables the Company to attain effective 

integration, which in turn will lead to Tap’s ultimate goal of 

sustainable exploration success.
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Permit Review

Brunei - Block M 

(Tap 39% & Operator)

Background

Block M is a large onshore permit in the Brunei 

Darussalam. Located in a proven petroliferous 

province close to existing infrastructure, the permit 

contains the under-evaluated Belait oil and gas fi eld. 

Opportunity

The Belait fi eld contains contingent resources of 

8-64 mmboe (gross) in a number of separate pools 

and fault blocks. Tap is planning to appraise the 

fi eld and explore Block M more widely by applying 

modern technology. Success could see Block M 

become a key oil and gas production asset for Tap.

2009 Progress

Tap acquired and processed 60 km of 2D 

Seismic data and 118 sq km of 3D Seismic 

data in the central part of Block M in 2009. The 

acquisition of this survey in jungle terrain with up 

to 1,000 personnel in the fi eld at peak times is an 

outstanding achievement. Interpretation is now in 

progress. 

Next Steps

Two appraisal wells are planned to start on the Belait 

fi eld in the second quarter of 2010, with further 

seismic acquisition likely in the second half of 2010. 

Bass Basin – T/47P 

(Tap 40% & Operator)

Background

T/47P is located in the offshore Bass Basin between 

Victoria and Tasmania. The Bass Basin has 

historically had wells with oil and gas shows and 

in the last decade has started to yield commercial 

success. 

Opportunity

Through the acquisition of modern 3D Seismic data 

and geological studies, Tap has identifi ed a number 

of 10-50 mmstb oil prospects and leads.

2009 Progress

Interpretation of the 2007-2008 seismic surveys and 

various supporting geological studies resulted in 

the delineation of the Tolpuddle prospect, with the 

likelihood of more to come.

Next Steps

At least one exploration well is planned for late 2010. 

7

T
a
p

 O
il
  

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
R

e
p

o
rt

 2
0
0
9



Business Review

Philippines – SC 41 

(Tap 50% & Operator)

Background

SC 41 is a large permit in the Sandakan Basin, 

offshore northern Borneo. Geologically similar 

basins around Borneo contain numerous 

large discoveries. The potential of the basin is 

highlighted by ExxonMobil’s recent Dabakan-1 

discovery, drilled in late 2009 in adjacent permit 

SC 56. 

Opportunity

Numerous prospects of greater than 100 mmstb 

are identifi ed on modern 3D Seismic data along 

trend from known oil. Success in SC 41 could 

be a game-changer for Tap. 

2009 Progress

Tap reprocessed the 751 sq km Alpine 3D 

Seismic survey in the fi rst half of 2009 while 

continuing interpretation efforts. A farmout 

campaign commenced late in 2009 to offset 

the costs and risks associated with drilling in a 

deep water environment.

Next Steps

Contingent on the results of the farmout 

campaign, Tap will undertake further exploration 

drilling in SC 41 in late 2010 or early 2011.

Carnarvon Basin – WA-351-P

(Tap 25%)

Background

WA-351-P is located on the deepwater Exmouth 

Plateau, a world class province for LNG scale gas. 

Opportunity

Permit potential in the success case of 2-3 tcf 

(gross). Hess’ continuing run of success 

(9 discoveries from 11 wells) in WA-390-P 

immediately north of WA-351-P is testament 

to the potential of the area.

2009 Progress

Interpretation of the 3,500 sq km Aragon 3D 

Seismic survey, with specialist geophysical 

and geological studies carried out in parallel 

demonstrated the presence of a large number 

of structures, with a high probability of large 

recoverable volumes of gas.

Next Steps

The permit is undergoing renewal in April 2010. 

Drilling is anticipated in 2011.
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Business Review

Carnarvon Basin – WA-290-P

(Tap 20%) and WA-320-P (Tap 33%)

Background

Located in moderate depth waters adjacent 

to Woollybutt and south of the giant Gorgon 

gas accumulation. Both permits contain large 

undrilled gas prone structures which are now 

ripe for exploration in view of the developing 

markets for domestic gas in Western Australia 

and LNG globally. 

Opportunity

The large undrilled structures are Zola in WA-

290-P and Palmerston and Rex in WA-320-P, 

which represent excellent high impact moderate 

risk drilling opportunites.

2009 Progress

In WA-290-P, the original Minden 3D Seismic survey 

was reprocessed to improve the defi nition of the 

Zola prospect. Farmout campaigns were initiated in 

both permits late in the year in an effort to mitigate 

the cost of drilling these deeper targets.

Next Steps

Contingent on the results of the farmout campaign 

Tap expects to drill an exploration well in one of 

these permits in late 2010 or early 2011.

Carnarvon Basin – WA-191-P 

(Tap 8.2%) (Tap 10.93% of Fletcher-3)

Background

WA-191-P is located at the northern end of the 

highly productive Dampier Sub-Basin immediately 

east of the Mutineer and Exeter fi elds. Proximity 

to existing production, the oil-prone nature of 

this region and relatively shallow water depths 

combine to make this permit highly attractive. 

Opportunity

The Fletcher oil discovery, drilled in 2007 and 

appraised by three wells in 2008-2009 is a 

moderate size oil accumulation with a number of 

nearby prospective features.

2009 Progress

Main emphases in 2009 were integrating 

data from the Fletcher wells with seismic and 

upgrading the prospect inventory.

Next Steps

Drilling in late 2010 is contingent on the outcome 

of current studies.
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Indonesia – Rangkas 

(Tap 24%)

Background

The Rangkas block is located in onshore West Java, 

southwest of Jakarta and covers an area of 3,977 sq 

km. The block is operated by Lundin Petroleum AB.

Opportunity

Previous seismic and drilling in the block and 

surface oil seeps indicate the presence of an active 

petroleum system.  Recent seismic reprocessing and 

geological reviews of the block indicate signifi cant 

untested potential, including previously unrecognised 

deep targets. The area is an extension of a trend of 

numerous oil and gas discoveries to the east. 

2009 Progress

Tap concluded the farmin agreement in November 

2009. All regulatory approvals were received in 

February 2010.

Next Steps

A seismic survey of up to 500 km is planned for the 

fi rst half of 2010 to delineate leads mapped on the 

reprocessed 2D Seismic data. Based on the seismic 

survey results the joint venture may commit to 

additional seismic and drilling in 2011-2012.

New Ventures & Business Development

Tap maintains an active New Ventures and Business Development team which evaluated a number of assets and 

exploration opportunities during the year. The number of business opportunities identifi ed in 2009 were less than 

anticipated, and of those that were evaluated few met Tap’s stringent assessment criteria. Tap was, however, successful 

in advancing new acreage acquisition in Indonesia, and will continue the process of identifying portfolio balancing 

opportunities in 2010.
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Schedule of Permit Interests

The following is summary of Tap’s production, pipeline and exploration interests. The interests shown may be subject to 

certain conditions, including regulatory approvals.

Licence/Permit Hydrocarbon
Tap
(%)

Gross
Area
(km2)

Operator

PRODUCING FIELDS

TL/1 Bambra oil/gas/condensate 12.22 401 Apache

TL/1 Bambra East gas/condensate 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Linda gas/condensate 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Harriet oil/gas 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Gipsy/North Gipsy oil 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Gudrun oil 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Lee gas/condensate 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Mohave oil 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Rose gas/condensate 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Simpson oil 12.22 Apache

TL/1 Tanami oil 12.22 Apache

TL/5 Campbell gas/condensate 12.22 175 Apache

TL/5 Endymion gas/condensate 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Agincourt oil 12.22 158 Apache

TL/6 Albert oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Artreus oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Double Island oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Little Sandy oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 North Pedirka oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Pedirka oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 South Plato oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Victoria oil 12.22 Apache

TL/6 Zephyrus oil 12.22 Apache

TL/8 Wonnich gas/condensate 12.22 191 Apache

TL/9 West Cycad oil 12.22 80 Apache

WA-25-L Woollybutt oil 15.00 401 Eni

PIPELINE LICENCES

PL/12 Shipping terminal water 12.22 Apache

PL/17 To CS-1 (HJV pipeline) gas 12.22 Apache

TPL/13 To CS-1 (HJV/ESJV pipeline) gas 3.67 Apache

TPL/1 Harriet A oil 12.22 Apache

TPL/2 Shipping terminal oil 12.22 Apache

TPL/5 Harriet A,B,C gas 12.22 Apache

TPL/7 South Pepper Trunkline oil 10.00 Apache

TPL/8 To mainland (HJV pipeline) gas 12.22 Apache

PL/42 At CS-1 (HJV/ESJV pipeline) gas 3.67 Apache

as at 17 February 2010
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Licence/Permit Hydrocarbon
Tap 
(%)

Gross 
Area 
(km2)

Operator

EXPLORATION PERMITS AND RETENTION LICENCES

Western Australia

R 3 75.00 80 Tap

TP/8, EP 307, EP 358, TR/1, TR/2 12.22 1,309 Apache

TL/2 10.00 400 Apache

TP/7 (1-3) 12.47 1,019 Santos

TP/7 (4) 12.47 225 Apache

WA-8-L 20.00 161 Santos

WA-22-L 15.00 80 Eni

WA-33-R 22.47 321 Apache

WA-34-R 12.00 417 Eni

WA-191-P 8.20 1,050 Santos

WA-246-P 10.00 322 Apache

WA-261-P 12.29 334 Apache

WA-290-P 20.00 480 OMV

WA-320-P 33.33 312 OMV

WA-334-P 20.00 172 Apache

WA-351-P 25.00 3,764 BHP Billiton

Brunei

Block M 39.00 3,011 Tap

Indonesia

Rangkas PSC 24.00 3,977 Lundin

Philippines

SC 41 50.00 3,686 Tap

Tasmania

T/47P 40.00 2,886 Tap

TOTAL AREA 25,412
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The following summarises Tap’s remaining Proved and Probable Reserve (2P) and Contingent Resource (2C) estimate as at 

31 December 2009.

Proved plus Probable (2P) Reserve Estimate 

as at 31 December 2009

Oil/Condensate Fields Licence/Permit Tap (%)
Gross Oil and 
Cond (mmstb)

Tap Share
Oil and Cond (mmstb)

Harriet Joint Venture TL/1, 5, 6, 8, 9 12.22 11.8 1.4

Woollybutt Joint Venture WA-25-L 15.00 8.1 1.2

Total Oil and Condensate Reserves (mmstb) 19.9 2.7

Gas Fields Licence/Permit Tap (%) Gross Gas (PJ) Tap Share Gas (PJ)

Harriet Joint Venture TL/1, 5, 6, 8, 9 12.22 116.2 14.2

Total Gas Reserves (PJ) 116.2 14.2

 

Total Gas (MMboe) 17.1 2.1

 

Total Hydrocarbons (MMboe) 37.1 4.8

Contingent Resource Estimate as at 31 December 2009

Licence/Permit Tap (%)
Gross

(MMboe)
Tap Share

MMboe
Comments

Maitland (gas/condensate) WA-33-R 22.47 10 - 70 2.2 - 15.7 1C - 3C Range

Belait (oil & gas)* Block M 39.00 8 - 64 3.1 - 25.0 1C - 3C Range 

Further appraisal in 2010

Other (gas/condensate & oil) 102 13.3 2C

Total Contingent Resources (2C) 

(MMboe)

161 28.8 Where a range is quoted 

the median (2C) is used in 

this summation

* Tap’s contingent resources for Block M are based on its net working interest rather than its net entitlement under the Production Sharing Agreement.

This report is based on information which has been compiled in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules and fi nalised by the Company’s Exploration 

Manager Mr Joe Scibiorski B.Sc (Hons) M.Sc (Petroleum Geology), DIC. Mr Scibiorski is a full-time employee of the Company and has more than 25 

years relevant experience in the petroleum industry.

Third Party Gas

As at 31 December 2009, Tap has a remaining entitlement to delivery of the following volumes of gas under contract. 

The volumes set out below constitute gas reserves attributable to the sellers under the relevant agreements and as such 

are not disclosed herein as reserves.

Contract Tap Share (PJ) Tap Share (MMboe)

Gas Purchase Agreement dated 27 May 2005 26.81 3.95

Gas Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 27 May 2005 7.21 1.06

Gas Swap Agreement dated 3 June 2009 0.88 0.13

Total 34.90 5.15

Reserve & Contingent Resource Estimate
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Comparative Data Summary

12 MONTHS ENDED DEC 09 DEC 08 DEC 07 DEC 06 DEC 05

Profi t & Loss ($ million)

Sales revenue : Oil & condensate 30.9 44.1 72.3 79.4 106.4

 : Gas 23.1 17.0 12.3 8.8 14.1

 : Tolling 4.0 0.2 0.1 0.7 0.9

Government royalties (1.2) (1.5) (3.4) (10.1) (24.4)

EBITDA 30.6 11.4 30.6 36.7 63.9

Exploration expenditure writedowns (2.2) (21.2) (18.2) (18.4) (16.6)

Income tax expense (1.3) (3.0) (9.4) (2.8) (5.4)

NPAT 6.7 (7.5) (7.8) 0.8 22.8

EPS (cents) 4.3 (4.8) (5.0) 0.5 14.5

Gross profi t margin (%) 17% 29% 36% 37% 39%

Balance Sheet ($ million)

Cash 59.4 54.0 96.8 105.2 99.0

Capitalised exploration expenditure 113.9 100.3 63.5 56.3 47.1

Property, plant & equipment 117.4 135.1 125.5 117.0 133.8

Total assets 316.2 315.0 313.2 299.3 303.7

Debt - - - - -

Total liabilities 92.5 98.7 89.9 59.0 61.4

Net assets 223.7 216.3 223.4 240.3 242.3

Cash Flow ($ millions)

Operations 31.7 37.8 52.6 61.3 58.9

Investing (20.6) (81.9) (59.3) (50.2) (51.7)

Financing - (0.6) 1.1 (3.7) (0.9)

Volumes

Production

Oil & condensate : HJV 0.2 0.1 0.4 0.3 0.6

 : Woollybutt 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.9

Sales gas (PJ) : HJV 3.7 2.6 4.6 5.1 7.4

Total (mmboe) 0.9 0.8 1.4 1.7 2.6

Third Party Gas Sales

Third party gas (PJ) 2.6 2.4 0.9 - -

Reserves (Proved and Probable)

Total (mmboe) 4.8 5.8 6.5 7.5 10.0

Other

Oil price – A$ average realised/bbl 74 117 94 94 69

Shares on issue 156.5 156.5 156.5 155.9 157.9

Share price at period end ($) 1.17 0.77 2.05 1.52 2.56
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Philippines Orphanage Donation
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Tap recognises that exploring for and 
producing hydrocarbons impacts on the 
environment and communities in which it 
operates. These operations also affect the 
people actively involved in them. To mitigate 
this impact, Tap adopted a “Positive Influence” 
philosophy so as to approach all activities 
with the view of enhancing the position 
of each stakeholder. Application of the 
“Positive Influence” approach is now inherent 
in management systems and operations 
practices and has resulted in steady 
improvement in performance. 

Health, Safety and  

Environment Performance

Tap remains committed to providing a safe, healthy 

and secure work environment for its employees and 

contractors. In Brunei, an onshore 2D and 3D Seismic 

program was completed in challenging jungle terrain. At 

peak activity over 1,000 personnel were employed with 

over 1.5 million cumulative hours worked. This operation 

was the largest contributor to Tap’s operated year 

end performance results. In 2009 Tap realised a Total 

Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) of 5, which 

compares favourably to the Australian oil and gas industry 

rate of 6.8 (APPEA 2008) and is a significant improvement 

on the 2008 TRIFR of 9.1. However, there is always scope 

for improvement. Despite this improvement, Tap still 

recorded 2 LTI’s in the Brunei land seismic program which 

resulted in lost time of 19 man days. Although these injuries 

were not serious, Tap’s goal of zero LTI’s remains a corner 

stone of the HSE philosophy. 

Tap revised its Safety Management System in 2009 in 

preparation for the Brunei operations and continued 

international expansion. Adoption of the highest safety 

processes available ensures that Tap surpasses the 

regulating authorities’ requirements for the areas in which 

the operations are conducted. 

Regular internal and independent audits ensure that 

systems are not only appropriate but aim to confirm the 

highest internal standards are met for all operations.

Health issues were also a major concern in 2009 with  

the swine flu outbreak requiring increased screening, 

testing and isolation procedures to be implemented. This 

process helped identify and isolate workers with possible 

symptoms early, preventing further infection. As a result 

Tap was able to maintain its workforce during the peak of 

the swine flu pandemic.

Community and  

Stakeholder Performance

The engagement of stakeholders early, often and with 

clear and honest information is vital to short and long term 

success. Tap acknowledges that its operations may impact 

stakeholders at local and national levels and by working 

together, a mutually positive outcome can be achieved.

Our 2009 Brunei seismic program was partially conducted 

in an intensive agricultural area that required agreement 

and active stakeholder involvement at all levels. With a 

dedicated community plan and pro-active engagement 

with relevant stakeholders, the operations were conducted 

with the full support of the community. Success can be 

best measured by stakeholders at all levels looking forward 

to further seismic or drilling programs with confidence.

Tap has adopted an active role in the communities which are 

close to its operations to provide assistance and long term 

benefits to the local population. Two cyclones (typhoons) 

in the Philippines and flooding in Brunei resulted in urgent 

requests from local communities for assistance. In Manila, 

Tap was asked to assist with the re-building and fitting out 

of a scavenger-children’s orphanage and school that was 

destroyed by the cyclones. Tap provided sufficient funding 

to re-establish the orphanage and provide educational 

material for the children. Tap employees contributed further 

monies to the donation efforts and this amount was then 

matched by Tap. This contribution resulted in the facility 

improvements surpassing original expectations. 

Extensive flooding in Brunei resulted in large-scale damage 

to homes and property of people living in and around the 

operating areas. Tap provided funding to a flood relief fund to 

assist those who experienced damage or loss of property. 

Tap’s philosophy is that any donations must be used on 

tangible assets that benefit the community with a strong 

bias towards improvements benefiting children.

Environmental Performance

Tap recognises that its exploration activities can have 

an impact on the environment. In 2009, Tap’s Brunei 

seismic operations were conducted in a range of sensitive 

environmental areas ranging from rainforest to cleared 

agricultural land. An Environmental Impact Assessment 

(EIA) was conducted on the seismic area to determine 

the potential nature and extent of the impact on the 

environment arising from the project. Tap together with 

the acquisition contractor and key stakeholders prepared 

an Environmental Management Plan that addressed the 

required mitigating measures. The project was completed 

without any environmental incidents with all sites restored 

to the satisfaction of all stakeholders.

Health, Safety, Environment & Community

Active engagement with contractors and communities 

yields results in onshore seismic program
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ASX BEST PRACTICE 

RECOMMENDATIONS

ASX Listing Rule 4.10 requires listed companies to 

include in their Annual Report a statement disclosing 

the extent to which they have complied with the ASX 

Best Practice Recommendations in the reporting period. 

These recommendations are guidelines designed to 

produce an effi ciency, quality or integrity outcome. The 

recommendations are not prescriptive so that if a company 

considers that a recommendation is inappropriate having 

regard to its particular circumstances, the company has 

the fl exibility not to follow it. 

A table has been included at the end of this statement 

which sets out the ASX Best Practice Recommendations 

and states whether the Company has complied with 

each of the recommendations in the reporting period. 

As indicated in the table, the Company considers 

that it complies with all of the ASX Best Practice 

Recommendations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Role of the Board

The Board’s primary responsibility is to oversee the 

Company’s business activities and management for the 

benefi t of shareholders, which it accomplishes by:

establishing corporate governance, ethical, 

environmental and health and safety standards;

setting objectives, goals and strategic direction with 

management with a view to maximising shareholder 

value;

approving and monitoring budgets, major investments 

and projects;

ensuring adequate internal controls exist and are 

appropriately monitored;

ensuring signifi cant business risks are identifi ed and 

appropriately managed;

appointing the CEO and monitoring the CEO’s 

performance; and

ensuring the composition of the Board is appropriate, 

reviewing the performance of the Board as a whole and 

the contributions of individual directors and approving 

succession plans.

The Board has delegated responsibilities and authorities 

to management to enable management to conduct the 

Company’s day to day activities, subject to prudential 

limitations. Matters which are beyond the scope of these 

prudential limitations require Board approval. The Board 

has also established a number of committees to assist the 

Board in the discharge of its responsibilities.

This statement summarises the corporate 
governance practices adopted by the Board. 
Tap’s objective is to achieve best practice in 
corporate governance, and the Company’s 
offi cers and employees are committed to 
achieving this objective.

In addition to the information contained 
in this statement, the Company’s website 
www.tapoil.com.au contains a dedicated 
corporate governance section which includes 
copies of the key corporate governance 
policies adopted by the Company.
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Corporate Governance

Board Composition

The Board comprises four non-executive independent 

Directors (including an independent Chairman), and one 

executive Director. The Nominations Committee reviews 

the composition of the Board at least annually to ensure 

that the balance of skills and experience amongst Board 

members is appropriate. 

The Directors, with the exception of the Managing Director, 

are subject to election by shareholders. The Company’s 

Constitution provides that one-third of the Directors shall 

retire by rotation at each AGM. Any Director appointed to 

fi ll a casual vacancy must retire at the next AGM. Those 

Directors who are retiring may submit themselves for re-

election by shareholders, including any Director appointed 

to fi ll a casual vacancy. 

The names of Directors, the year they were fi rst appointed, 

their status as non-executive, executive or independent 

Directors and whether they are retiring by rotation and 

seeking re-election by shareholders at the 2010 AGM, 

are set out in the table below:

Directors
First 

Appointed
Non-

executive
Independent

Retiring at 
2010 AGM

Seeking re-election 
at 2010 AGM

P B Lane 1995 Yes Yes No No

N F Taylor 2002 Yes Yes No No

M J Sandy 2006 Yes Yes Yes Yes

P J Stickland 2009 No No No No

D W Bailey 2009 Yes Yes Yes Yes

The Directors have a broad range of qualifi cations, 

experience and expertise in the oil and gas business. The 

qualifi cations, experience and expertise of the Directors are 

set out on page 25 of this Report.

Independence of 

Non-executive Directors

The Board considers an independent director to be a non-

executive director who meets the criteria for independence 

included in the ASX Best Practice Recommendations. The 

Board considers that Peter Lane, Neale Taylor, Michael 

Sandy and Douglas Bailey meet this criteria. They have no 

business or contractual relationship with the Company, 

other than as a Director, and no confl icts of interest which 

could interfere with the exercise of independent judgement. 

Accordingly, they are considered to be independent.

Independent Professional Advice

The Board has adopted a formal policy on access to 

independent professional advice which provides that, for the 

purposes of the proper performance of their duties, Directors 

are entitled to seek independent professional advice. 

The advice is at the Company’s expense, subject to prior 

approval of the Chairman and the Managing Director. Advice 

so obtained is to be made freely available to all Directors.

Board Meetings

The Board held eight scheduled meetings during the 

reporting period and no unscheduled meetings were held 

during that period. Senior management attended and 

made presentations at the Board meetings as considered 

appropriate and were available for questioning by Directors. 

The attendance of the Directors at Board meetings during 

the reporting period is detailed in the Directors’ Report on 

page 32.

Evaluation of Board Performance 

Improvement in Board processes and effectiveness is a 

continuing objective and the primary purpose of Board 

evaluation is to identify ways to improve performance. 

The Nominations Committee evaluates the performance of 

the Board as a whole. These evaluations have been carried 

out internally and involve applying best practice criteria to 

the Board’s responsibilities. The evaluation also takes into 

consideration benchmarking of progress towards goals set 

out in Tap’s business plan and regular assessment of results 

compared with budgets and forecasts. Evaluations have 

considered the effectiveness of Board member interaction 

and the contributions made by individual Directors. 

The Board has established a limited number of key 

performance indicators (“KPIs”) to be considered in 

conjunction with the previously adopted criteria for 

assessing Company performance. These KPIs will be 

revised annually. For the 2010 fi nancial year, KPIs have been 

developed with reference to the Company’s business plan. 

At the end of each Board meeting the Board considers 

the effectiveness of the meeting and any suggestions for 

improvement are noted and acted upon.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established Audit, Nominations, Reserves 

and Remuneration Committees which assist in the 

discharge of the Board’s responsibilities. Board approved 

charters set out the terms of reference and rules governing 

these Committees. Changes were made to the composition 

of the various Board Committees during 2009. The present 

composition of these Committees is as set out below.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its 

responsibilities to ensure that the Company complies with 

appropriate and effective accounting, auditing, internal 

control, business risk management, compliance and 

reporting practices.

The main objectives of the Audit Committee include the 

following:

assisting the Board to discharge its responsibility to 

exercise due care, diligence and skill in relation to:

reporting of financial information to users of   -

financial reports;

application of accounting policies; -

financial management; -

internal control systems; -

risk management procedures and practices; -

business policies and practices; -

protection of the Company’s assets; and -

compliance with applicable laws, regulations,  -

standards and best practice guidelines.

improving the credibility, objectivity and transparency of 

the accountability process (including financial reporting);

improving the efficiency of the Board by undertaking 

tasks delegated to the Audit Committee and thus 

allowing more time for issues to be discussed in 

sufficient depth;

improving the effectiveness of the external audit function;

improving the quality and completeness of internal 

and external reporting of financial and non-financial 

information; and

strengthening the role and influence of non-executive 

Directors.

The Audit Committee comprises at least three members, a 

majority of whom shall be independent Directors and all of 

whom shall be non-executive Directors. As of 31 December 

2009 members of the Audit Committee were:

Douglas Bailey (Chairman) - non-executive,  

independent Director;

Peter Lane - non-executive, independent Director; and

Michael Sandy - non-executive, independent Director.

The qualifications and experience of each of the current 

members of the Audit Committee are set out on page 25  

of this Report.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year and 

at any other time requested by a Board member, the 

Company Secretary or the external auditor. The external 

auditor attends at least twice a year and on other 

occasions as warranted by the circumstances. The number 

of meetings of the Audit Committee during the reporting 

period and the attendance record of its members are set 

out in the table below:

Name
No. of Meetings 

Eligible to Attend
Attended

N F Taylor 3 3

P J Stickland - 3*

P B Lane 3 3

M J Sandy 3 3

D W Bailey - -

P W Underwood - 2*

* Attended via invitation to all or part of meeting

Nominations Committee

The role of the Nominations Committee is to review Board 

composition, performance and Board succession planning. 

This includes, but is not limited to, finding, evaluating and 

recommending candidates for the Board.

The responsibilities of the Nominations Committee include:

assessment of the necessary and desirable 

competencies of Board members; 

reviewing Board succession plans;

reviewing the size and composition of the Board;

evaluating Board candidates and recommending 

individuals for appointment to the Board and/or election 

by shareholders; 

reviewing education and professional development 

programs to ensure Board members are able to 

discharge their responsibilities effectively;

providing that the roles and responsibilities of Board 

members promote Board accountability to the Company, 

its shareholders and key stakeholders; and

evaluating Board performance so that individual and 

collective performance is regularly and fairly assessed.

The Nominations Committee consists of a minimum of 

three members. The chair of the Nominations Committee 

is elected by the members of the Nominations Committee. 

Meetings are held over the course of the year as required in 

order for the committee to fulfil its duties.

Having regard to the size of the Board, it is considered 

appropriate that for the present all members of the Board 

are members of the Nominations Committee. Two formal 

Nominations Committee meetings were held during the year.
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Reserves Committee

The role of the Reserves Committee is to review reserve 

estimates and advise the Board concerning these 

estimates for reporting purposes.

The responsibilities of the Reserves Committee include:

making recommendations to the Board on Proved and 

Probable Reserve estimates and Technically Recoverable 

Hydrocarbons for public reporting purposes; 

receiving the recommendations of Tap’s relevant 

personnel and management on reserves matters and 

accepting or rejecting those recommendations (as 

appropriate); 

reviewing the supporting documentation contained 

in the Reserves Working Group’s due diligence file as 

necessary; and

assessment of the effectiveness of the Reserves Working 

Group’s processes in arriving at a recommendation.

The Reserves Committee is currently comprised of two 

non-executive Directors. The Committee meets at least 

once a year. As of 31 December 2009, members of the 

Reserves Committee were: 

Peter Lane (Chairman) – non-executive, independent 

Director; and

Neale Taylor – non-executive, independent Director.

The number of meetings of the Reserves Committee during 

the reporting period and the attendance record are set out 

in the table below:

Name
No. of Meetings 

Eligible to Attend
Attended

N F Taylor 1 1

P J Stickland - 1*

P B Lane 1 1

M J Sandy - -

D W Bailey - -

P W Underwood - -

* Attended via invitation to all or part of meeting

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s role is to review and 

recommend remuneration for Directors and senior 

management, review remuneration policies and practices, 

company incentive schemes and superannuation 

arrangements in accordance with the Remuneration 

Committee Charter.

The Committee considers independent advice, where 

circumstances require, on the appropriateness of 

remuneration to ensure the Company attracts, motivates 

and retains high quality people.

The ASX Listing Rules and the Constitution require that 

the maximum aggregate amount of remuneration to be 

allocated among the non-executive Directors be approved 

by the shareholders in general meeting. In proposing the 

maximum amount for consideration by shareholders, and 

in determining the allocation, the Remuneration Committee 

takes account of the time demands made on Directors 

and such factors as fees paid to non-executive Directors in 

comparable Australian companies.

The remuneration paid to Directors and Officers is shown in 

the Directors’ Report on page 39.

The Remuneration Committee comprises a non-executive 

Chairman and one non-executive Director. The Committee 

meets formally at least once a year and also has numerous 

workshop sessions during the year. Executive Directors 

attend meetings as appropriate. As of 31 December 2009 

members of the Remuneration Committee were:

Neale Taylor (Chairman) – non-executive, independent 

Director; and

Douglas Bailey – non-executive, independent Director.

The number of meetings of the Remuneration Committee 

during the reporting period and the attendance record are 

set out in the table below:

Name
No. of Meetings 

Eligible to Attend
Attended

N F Taylor 4 3

P J Stickland - 2*

P B Lane 4 4

M J Sandy 4 4

D W Bailey - 1*

P W Underwood - 1* 

* Attended via invitation to all or part of meeting
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Corporate Governance

REMUNERATION POLICIES 

AND FRAMEWORK 

Details of the remuneration policies and framework of the 

Company and the remuneration paid to Directors (executive 

and non-executive) are set out in Remuneration Report 

in the Directors’ Report on pages 34 to 42. Shareholders 

will be invited to consider and approve the Remuneration 

Report along with other proposed changes to the 

Company’s remuneration practices at the 2010 AGM.

AUDIT GOVERNANCE AND 

INDEPENDENCE

The Company is committed to ensuring that the 

Company’s fi nancial reports present a true and fair view 

of the Company and comply with applicable accounting 

standards and policies. 

External Auditor

The external auditor of the Company is Deloitte. Deloitte 

was appointed as the Company’s auditor in September 

1996. The Board and the external auditor have ensured 

that there are rotation policies in place to comply with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act. The audit partner 

responsible for Tap was rotated in June 2009.

There are a number of requirements under the 

Corporations Act to ensure that the external auditor is 

independent. The external auditor is now required to 

provide a written declaration that it has complied with the 

independence requirements under the Corporations Act.

Attendance at AGMs

The Board ensures that a representative of the external 

auditor of the Company attends the AGM to allow 

shareholders to ask the external auditor any questions 

about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 

content of the auditor’s report. 

Internal Audit Procedures

In addition to the policies and practices implemented by 

the Board to manage business risks, the Audit Committee 

is responsible for assessing the internal process for 

determining and managing key areas of risk, ensuring 

that the Company has an effective risk management 

system and that signifi cant risks are reported to the Board, 

assessing suspected and actual breaches of security or 

law and assessing and monitoring the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control system with management and 

the external auditor. 

MANAGING BUSINESS RISKS 

The Board maintains policies and practices designed to 

identify and manage signifi cant business risks, including:

regular budgeting and fi nancial reporting;

procedures/controls to manage fi nancial exposures and 

operational risks;

procedures/controls to manage environmental and 

occupational health and safety matters;

the Company’s business plan;

corporate strategy guidelines and procedures to review 

and approve the Company’s strategic plans;

reviewing oil price and currency hedging strategies 

and policy;

insurance and risk management programs which are 

reviewed by the Board;

prudential limitations procedures, which include Board 

approval for commitments or expenditures exceeding 

prescribed amounts; and

Board approval to open bank accounts or incorporate 

any subsidiary.

The Board receives regular reports about the fi nancial 

condition and operating results of the Group. The CEO and 

CFO annually provide a declaration in the form required by 

Section 295A of the Corporations Act.

PROMOTING ETHICAL 

STANDARDS

Tap’s Code of Conduct

In pursuit of the highest ethical standards, the Company 

has adopted a Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct 

establishes the standards of behaviour required of Directors 

and employees in the conduct of the Company’s affairs. 

The Code of Conduct is based on the following principles: 

respect for the law and acting accordingly; 

maintaining stringent fi nancial controls;

not engaging in confl icts of interest;

protecting best interests of shareholders;

using Tap’s assets responsibly and in the best interests 

of Tap;

acting with integrity, being fair and honest in dealings 

and treating other people with dignity; and 

being responsible for actions and accountable for 

the consequences.

There were no instances reported to the Board during 

the reporting period where the conduct of an offi cer or 

employee of the Company was found to be in breach of the 

Code of Conduct.
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Corporate Governance

Trading in the Company’s 

Securities by Directors and 

Employees 

The Board has adopted a policy in relation to dealings 

in the securities of the Company. Under the policy, 

Directors and employees are prohibited from trading in the 

Company’s securities while in possession of price sensitive 

information. In addition, Directors are required to notify 

the Chairman (or in the case of the Chairman, the CEO/

Managing Director) of any proposed transaction and must 

be given clearance for the transaction to proceed.

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Board is committed to the promotion of investor 

confi dence by ensuring that trading in the Company’s 

securities takes place in an effi cient, competitive and 

informed market. In accordance with the continuous 

disclosure requirements under the ASX Listing Rules, the 

Company has procedures in place to ensure that all price 

sensitive information is identifi ed, reviewed by management 

and disclosed to the ASX in a timely manner and that all 

information provided to the ASX is immediately available to 

shareholders and the market on the Company’s website.

Analyst and press briefi ngs are often conducted following 

the release of half-year results, full-year results and major 

announcements and, from time to time, briefi ngs with major 

shareholders are conducted in order to promote a better 

understanding of the Company. In conducting briefi ngs, 

the Company takes care to ensure that any price sensitive 

information included in the content of briefi ngs has already 

been made available to all shareholders and the market.

SHAREHOLDERS

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept 

informed of all major developments affecting the Company. 

Information is communicated to shareholders through:

continuous disclosure in the form of public 

announcements on ASX;

annual, half-yearly and quarterly reports to shareholders;

investor briefi ngs; 

the Chairman’s address and CEO/Managing Director’s 

address delivered at the AGM; and

notices of all meetings of shareholders and explanatory 

notes of proposed resolutions.

In addition, information for shareholders and 

other stakeholders is available on Tap’s website 

www.tapoil.com.au including recent announcements, 

presentations, past and current reports to shareholders, 

corporate governance policies, Board committee 

charters, biographical information on Directors and 

information relating to operations.

Shareholders are encouraged at AGMs to ask questions of 

Directors and senior management and also the Company’s 

external auditors, who are required to be in attendance.
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ASX Best Practice Recommendations

The table below contains each of the ASX Best Practice Recommendations. Where the Company has complied with a 

recommendation during the reporting period, this is indicated with a tick (P) in the appropriate column. 

Complied

1.1 Establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior executives and disclose 

those functions. P

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent directors. P

2.2 The Chair should be an independent director. P

2.3 The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Offi cer should not be exercised by the same individual. P

2.4 The Board should establish a Nomination Committee. P

2.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 2. P

3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

P

unethical practices. P

3.2 Establish and disclose a policy concerning trading in Company securities by directors, offi cers 

and employees. P

3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 3. P

4.1 Require the CEO and CFO of the Company to state in writing to the Board that the Company’s fi nancial 

reports present a true and fair view in all respects of the Company’s fi nancial condition and operating 

results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards. P

4.2 The Board should establish an Audit Committee. P

4.3 The Audit Committee should be structured so that it:

P

P

P

P

4.4 The Audit Committee should have a formal charter. P

4.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 4. P

5.1 Establish written policies designed and disclosed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 

requirements to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that compliance. P

5.2 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 5. P

6.1 Design and disclose a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders 

and encouraging their participation at general meetings. P

6.2 Request external auditors to attend the AGM and to be available to answer questions. P

7.1 Establish and disclose policies for the oversight and management of material business risks. P

7.2 The Board should receive assurance from the CEO (or equivalent) and the CFO that the declaration 

provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on sound system of risk 

management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in 

relation to fi nancial reporting risks. P

7.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7. P

8.1 Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual directors 

and key executives. P

9.1 Disclose Company’s remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the costs and benefi ts of 

those policies and link remuneration paid to directors and key executives and corporate performance. P

9.2 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee. P

9.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors 

and senior executives. P

9.4 Ensure that payment of equity–based executive remuneration is made in accordance with thresholds set 

out in plans approved by shareholders. P

9.5 Provide information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 9. P

10.1 Disclose a code of conduct to guide compliance with legal and other obligations to legitimate stakeholders. P
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Neale Taylor

B.Sc Hons (Appl Geology), MS (Pet Eng), MBA, 

PhD (Bus), FAICD

Non-Executive Chairman (Director since March 2002)

Chairman of Remuneration Committee, Chairman of 

Nominations Committee and Member of Reserves 

Committee

Neale Taylor has over 40 years of technical, operating 

and commercial experience in oil and gas exploration and 

production. He gained most of his experience with Esso in 

Australia. Neale is a member of the Society of Petroleum 

Engineers and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 

Directors.

Michael Sandy

B.Sc Hons (Geology)

Non-Executive Director (Director since June 2006)

Member of Audit Committee, Nominations 

Committee and Reserves Committee

Michael Sandy is a geologist with over 30 years experience 

in the resources industry with the past 27 years focused 

on oil and gas. He has worked for various oil and gas 

companies, including Oil Search and Novus Petroleum.

Peter Lane

B.Sc Hons (Geology), F.AusIMM

Non-Executive Director (Director since March 1995)

Chairman of Reserves Committee, Member of 

Nominations Committee and Audit Committee

Peter Lane is a petroleum geologist with more than 40 

years experience in oil exploration and development 

in Australia, Canada and Papua New Guinea. He has 

managed a number of successful exploration and 

production companies including Vamgas NL, Reef Oil NL 

and Basin Oil NL. Prior to becoming a Director of Tap, he 

conducted his own consulting business for 19 years.

Douglas Bailey

B.Bus (Acc), CPA, ACIS

Non-Executive Director (Director since November 2009)

Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of 

Nominations Committee and Remuneration 

Committee

Douglas Bailey was the Chief Financial Offi cer of Woodside 

Petroleum Ltd between 2002 and 2004, and previously was 

an Executive Director of Ashton Mining Limited from 1990 to 

2000, including the last 3 years as Chief Executive Offi cer. He 

was formerly a Non-Executive Director of Aurora Gold Ltd. 

Peter Stickland

B.Sc Hons (Geology), GDipAppFin (Finsia), GAICD

Managing Director / Chief Executive Offi cer

Member of Nominations Committee

Peter Stickland has over 20 years global experience in 

oil and gas exploration. Peter had a successful career 

with BHP Billiton including a range of technical and 

management roles. Peter became Chief Executive 

Offi cer of Tap in 2008. In February 2009, Peter became 

Managing Director of Tap. Peter is a member of the Board 

of Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration 

Association Limited.

Directors

25

T
a
p

 O
il
  

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
R

e
p

o
rt

 2
0
0
9



Term Definition

2D Seismic seismic recorded along a single traverse and processed to form a two dimensional profi le 

of the subsurface

3D Seismic seismic recorded along many closely spaced traverses and processed to form a three 

dimensional view of the subsurface

A$ or $ Australian dollars

A-IFRS Australian International Financial Reporting Standards

AGAAP Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

AGM Annual General Meeting

ASX Australian Securities Exchange Limited

bbls barrel of oil, 42 US gallons, 35 imperial gallons, 5.615 cubic feet, 159 litres

Board the Board of Directors of the Company

BOE or boe barrels of oil equivalent

BOPD or bopd barrels per day (oil and condensate)

CEO Chief Executive Offi cer

CFO Chief Financial Offi cer

Condensate hydrocarbons associated with natural gas which are liquid at surface conditions but are 

gaseous in the subsurface

Constitution the constitution of the Company

Contingent Resources 

(2C)

those quantities of petroleum which are estimated, on a given date, to be potentially 

recoverable from known accumulations but which are not currently considered to be 

commercially recoverable

CS-1 Compressor Station 1 connecting to the DBNGP

Director a director of the Company

EBITDA earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

EBITDAX earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exploration expensed

EPS earnings per share

Financial Year the 12 months ending 31 December 2009

FPSO Floating Production, Storage and Offtake Vessel

Group Tap and its subsidiaries

HJV Harriet Joint Venture comprising Apache Northwest Pty Ltd, Kufpec Australia Pty Ltd and Tap 

(Harriet) Pty Ltd

Hydrocarbons oil, condensate and natural gas

km kilometres

km2 or sq km square kilometres

LNG liquefi ed natural gas

m metres

mmboe or MMboe million barrels of oil equivalent

mmstb million stock tank barrels

NPAT net profi t after tax

PJ petajoules (1015 joules); 1000 TJ

Prospect a geological feature in the subsurface which is a potential trap for petroleum and is suffi ciently 

defi ned for drilling

PRRT Petroleum Resource Rent Tax

Report this Annual Report

Reserves hydrocarbon reserves as that term is defi ned in the ASX Listing Rules

Tap or the Company Tap Oil Limited (ABN 89 068 572 341)

TJ Terajoules (1012 joules); 1000 Gigajoules

TJ/d Terajoules per day

Technically Recoverable 

Hydrocarbons

an estimate of the quantity of recoverable hydrocarbons in discovered reservoirs but for which 

commercial production criteria has not yet been established

Tcf trillion (1,000,000,000,000) cubic feet

Woollybutt the Woollybutt Joint Venture comprising Eni Australia Limited, Mobil Australia Resources Co 

Pty Ltd and Tap (West) Pty Ltd
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1. Principal Activities
Tap’s principal activities in the course of the financial 

year were oil and gas exploration and production and 

gas marketing. No material change in the nature of these 

activities occurred during the financial year.

2. Consolidated Results
The Consolidated Entity’s revenue for 2009 was $58.0 

million (2008: $61.4 million). The net profit before tax was 

$8.0 million (2008: loss of $4.5 million) and the net profit 

after tax was $6.7 million (2008: loss of $7.5 million). The 

Consolidated Entity generated $31.7 million of cash from 

operations (2008: $37.8 million).

3. Dividends
The directors do not recommend the paying of a dividend 

for the financial year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no dividend 

has been paid or declared.

4. Review of Operations

4.1  Strategic Overview

Tap is a diversified exploration and production company 

with cash reserves of $59.4 million, no debt, ongoing oil 

and gas revenues, and a balanced exploration portfolio. 

Tap’s strategic intent is to create value for shareholders 

through discovering, developing, acquiring, and producing 

oil and gas. Tap maintains an active new ventures program 

in order to sustain an inventory of quality exploration 

prospects. 

Exploration and Appraisal

Much of the 2009 exploration effort was focussed on 

seismic acquisition and interpretation in preparation for an 

active drilling program commencing in 2010. 

In WA-351-P, processing of the Aragon 3D seismic survey 

was completed and interpretation has confirmed the 

presence of a large number of leads representing several 

different play types. An assessment of the leads inventory 

is expected to be completed during the first quarter of 

2010. 

In Brunei Block M, a 60 line km 2D seismic survey and 

a 118km2 3D seismic survey over the central Belait trend 

were acquired and processed during 2009. This was a 

substantial achievement, with over 1,000 personnel in 

the field during peak periods and data quality exceeding 

expectations. Locations are being identified for drilling in 

the second quarter of 2010.

In Philippines Block SC 41, Tap completed the reprocessing 

and analysis of the Alpine 3D seismic survey in 2009, with 

several different independent play types being identified 

in the permit and individual prospects having potential for 

100-200MMstb of oil. A farm-out campaign is underway 

on behalf of the joint venture to facilitate further drilling. 

ExxonMobil has recently announced a hydrocarbon find 

in the Dabakan–1 well located approximately 6kms to the 

north of SC 41. In January 2010, ExxonMobil commenced 

drilling a second well in SC 56, Banduria-1.

In T/47P technical work on the 525km2 Labatt 3D seismic 

survey generated one commercially attractive prospect 

with other leads being evaluated. Dependant on the final 

technical analysis, it is likely that at least one well will be 

drilled during the fourth quarter of 2010. The recent oil 

and gas discovery at Rockhopper-1 in the T/18P permit 

immediately to the south of T/47P is encouraging.

Tap drilled two wells in 2009 – the Linda North-1 and 

Fletcher-4 appraisal wells. Linda North-1 intersected 

gas bearing sands, however, pressure data confirmed 

communication with other wells that are draining that 

part of the field so Linda North-1 will not be tied in for 

production. Fletcher-4 was sidetracked from the Fletcher-3 

well bore in January 2009. The target reservoir was water 

wet and the well was plugged and abandoned as planned. 

Work is ongoing in regard to the potential commerciality of 

the Fletcher discovery and developing a forward plan for 

the permit.

In November 2009, Tap farmed-in to the Rangkas Block 

in Indonesia. Tap acquired a 24% interest from Lundin 

Petroleum, the Block Operator. The Rangkas Block covers 

an area of 3,977km2 and is located onshore west Java, 

southwest of Jakarta.

During the year Tap relinquished its interests in EP-363,  

WA-291-P, WA-345-P, and WA-358-P.

The directors of Tap Oil Limited (“Tap” or the “Consolidated Entity”) submit herewith the annual 
financial report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. In order to 
comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows:
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Production and Sales

2009 
‘000 boe

2009 
$’000

2008 
’000 boe

2008 
$’000

Production (net to Tap):

Liquids - HJV 220 141

Oil - Woollybutt 145 246

Total liquids 365 387

HJV Sales Gas – 3,670 TJ (2008: 2,560 TJ) 547 378

Total production 912 765

Sales (net to Tap):

Liquids 419 30,957 377 44,149

HJV Gas Sales - 3,951 TJ (2008: 2,387 TJ) 589 5,838 352 3,584

Third Party Gas Sales – 2,599 TJ (2008: 2,388 TJ) 387 17,224 352 13,417

Tolling  - 3,999  - 231

Total sales 1,395 58,018 1,081 61,382

Average realised oil price A$73.88/bbl A$117.40/bbl

Oil and gas production levels at the Harriet Joint Venture 

gradually increased during the first half of the year to 

production levels experienced prior to the Varanus Island 

incident. By mid-year the repairs to the Varanus Island 

facilities had been largely completed and production 

toward the end of the year increased significantly with the 

Bambra wells in particular performing better than expected. 

The Woollybutt field produced in line with targets prior 

to being shut in on 28 April 2009. A final lifting was then 

completed and the Four Vanguard FPSO sailed to a 

shipyard in Singapore where the shipowners completed a 

planned life extension work program to ensure the vessel 

is capable of remaining on station to the end of the field 

life. In addition to the vessel owner’s shipyard and dry dock 

activities, the joint venture undertook improvements to 

various aspects of the vessel to further optimise operations. 

The FPSO, which has been renamed the Four Rainbow, 

is now back on station over the Woollybutt field and 

production is forecast to restart in the next few weeks once 

recommissioning is completed.

In addition to selling its own oil and gas production from 

the Harriet Joint Venture and Woollybutt fields, Tap has 

contracts with third parties from which it buys gas from 

the John Brookes field and re-sells this gas to consumers. 

The resale arrangements are at CPI linked domestic prices 

and take advantage of Tap’s contracted low purchase 

cost. These contracts are fixed in AUD and hence are 

not exposed to changes in either commodity prices or 

exchange rates.

In the second half of the year, Tap initiated a restructure of 

its third party gas sales arrangements in order to capture 

additional value over the 2010 - 2013 period and diversify 

the customer base. As a consequence of the restructure, 

some 2009 revenues were deferred however, gas sales from 

the resale of John Brookes gas continued to make a strong 

contribution to revenues. Revenue from tolling fees include 

charges to the John Brookes Joint Venture for the use of 

Harriet Joint Venture gas processing and transport facilities.

4.2 Financial Summary

Tap’s revenue for 2009 was $58.0 million (2008: $61.4 

million). After exploration write-down’s of $2.2 million  

(2008: $21.2 million), the net profit before tax was $8.0 

million (2008: loss of $4.5 million) and the net profit after tax 

was $6.7 million (2008: loss of $7.5 million). Tap generated 

$31.7 million of cash from operations (2008: $37.8 million).

Revenue from liquids sales of $31.0 million was lower than 

2008 revenue of $44.1 million. The average realised price 

per barrel of oil was significantly lower than 2008 at $73.88 

(2008: $117.40) per barrel and the increase in the volume of 

liquids sold from 377,000 barrels in 2008 to 419,000 barrels 

in 2009 was insufficient to offset this price fall. No oil price 

hedges were in place for 2009 production, resulting in 

all production being sold at US dollar spot oil prices. No 

oil price or currency hedging has been put in place for 

subsequent years.

Revenues for gas sales were higher in 2009 due to the 

higher volumes and pricing for sales of third party gas.

Cash production (operating) costs at the Harriet Joint 

Venture were higher than the prior year due to the facility 

being online for the whole of the year, even though 

production did not reach full capacity until early in the 

third quarter of 2009. Much of the Harriet Joint Venture 

production costs are fixed (i.e. do not vary greatly with 

production volumes) and in the first half of the year, the 

Operator took the opportunity to undertake additional 

maintenance and plant upgrades while the volumes were 

restricted. Gas purchases from third parties are also 

included in cost of sales.
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5. Directors
The names and particulars of the directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Committee Memberships Experience

N F Taylor 

Non-executive Director and 

Chairman 

Appointed, 19 March 2002

Remuneration Committee (Chair) 

Nominations Committee (Chair) 

Reserves Committee

Neale Taylor has over 40 years of technical, operating 

and commercial experience in oil and gas exploration 

and production. He gained most of his experience with 

Esso in Australia. Neale is a member of the Society 

of Petroleum Engineers and a Fellow of the Australian 

Institute of Directors.

P J Stickland 

Managing Director 

Appointed, 11 February 

2009 

Chief Executive Officer 

Appointed, 1 January 2008

Nominations Committee Peter Stickland has over 20 years global experience in 

oil and gas exploration. Peter had a successful career 

with BHP Billiton including a range of technical and 

management roles. Peter became Chief Executive 

Officer of Tap in 2008. In February 2009, Peter 

became Managing Director of Tap. Peter is a member 

of the Board of Australian Petroleum Production and 

Exploration Association Limited.

P B Lane 

Non-executive Director 

Appointed, 14 March 1995

Audit Committee 

Nominations Committee 

Reserves Committee (Chair)

Peter Lane is a petroleum geologist with more than 40 

years experience in oil exploration and development 

in Australia, Canada and Papua New Guinea. He has 

managed a number of successful exploration and 

production companies including Vamgas NL, Reef Oil NL 

and Basin Oil NL. Prior to becoming a director of Tap, he 

conducted his own consulting business for 19 years.

M J Sandy 

Non-executive Director 

Appointed, 22 June 2006

Audit Committee 

Nominations Committee 

Reserves Committee

Mike Sandy is a geologist with over 30 years experience 

in the resources industry with the past 24 years focussed 

on oil and gas. He has worked for various oil and gas 

companies, including Oil Search and Novus Petroleum.

D W Bailey 

Non-executive Director 

Appointed, 11 November 

2009

Remuneration Committee 

Nominations Committee 

Audit Committee (Chair)

Douglas Bailey was the Chief Financial Officer of 

Woodside Petroleum Ltd between 2002 and 2004 and 

previously, was an Executive Director of Ashton Mining 

Limited from 1990 to 2000, including the last 3 years as 

Chief Executive Officer. He was formerly a Non-executive 

Director of Aurora Gold Ltd.

P W Underwood resigned as a Non-executive Director on 21 June 2009. Mr Underwood had been a director since 10 May 

1995.

At Woollybutt, full production costs were incurred up 

until the end of April 2009 when the field was shut in 

and the FPSO sailed to Singapore for a life extension 

work program. Also included in production costs was 

a $1.6 million (2008: Nil) inventory adjustment made by 

the Operator following the final lifting prior to the FPSO 

proceeding to dry dock. 

In addition to the cash production costs discussed above, 

there was $22.3 million (2008: $16.8 million) in depreciation 

charged to cost of sales. The increase is a reflection of 

the higher production volumes in 2009 as depreciation is 

charged on a unit of production basis. 

Other income includes $23.2 million (2008: Nil) in insurance 

proceeds received. This amount represents the final total 

net settlement of USD 20.07 million received in relation to 

the business interruption and property damage insurance 

claims stemming from the Varanus Island incident.

The significant, non-recurring expenses for the Varanus 

Island repairs and the Woollybutt life extension project of 

$5.6 million (2008: $9.0 million) and $5.5 million (2008: Nil) 

respectively are included in other expenses as they do not 

represent ongoing production expenses.

Tap’s net administration costs were significantly lower due to 

a focus on cost management and recovery during the year.

The exploration write-down in 2009 was $2.2 million 

(2008: $21.2 million). The exploration effort in 2009 was 

focussed primarily on seismic acquisition, processing and 

interpretation across a number of permits in order to define 

a forward drilling program for 2010 and beyond. 

Net cash generated by operations decreased to $31.7 

million (2008: $37.8 million) on lower revenues and higher 

cash production costs as outlined above. Net cash 

generated by operations also includes the insurance 

proceeds received and payments for the Varanus Island 

repairs and the Woollybutt dry dock.
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Directorships of other Listed Companies

Directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the financial year are 

as follows:

Name Company Position Commenced Ceased

N F Taylor Cambrian Oil & Gas plc* Director March 2005 -

M J Sandy Caspian Oil and Gas Limited Director September 2005 -

Burleson Energy Limited Director May 2006 -

Hot Rock Limited Director June 2007 -

D W Bailey St Barbara Limited Director January 2006 -

*Renamed Xtract International Limited and delisted April 2007.

Directors’ Meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of the Board of directors 

of Tap Oil Limited) held during the financial year and which each director was eligible to attend and the number of meetings 

attended by each director (while they were a director or committee member). 

Board of Directors
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Reserves 

Committee
Nominations 
Committee

Directors Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

N F Taylor 8 8 3 3 4 3 1 1 2 2

P J Stickland 7 7 - 3(i) - 2(i) - 1(i) 2 2

P B Lane 8 8 3 3 4 4 1 1 2 2

M J Sandy 8 8 3 3 4 4 - - 2 2

D W Bailey 1 1 - - - 1(i) - - - -

P W Underwood 5 5 - 2(i) - 1(i) - - 1 1

(i) Attended via invitation to all or part of meeting.

Changes were made to the composition of the various Board committees during the course of 2009. The composition of 

these committees is now as set out above.

Directors’ Shareholdings

The following table sets out each director’s relevant interest 

in shares and options to acquire shares of the Company or 

a related body corporate as at the date of this report:

Directors
Fully paid  

ordinary shares
Options

N F Taylor 131,484 -

P J Stickland 244,424 425,620

P B Lane 958,602 -

M J Sandy 49,472 -

D W Bailey - -

P W Underwood 1,974,123(i) 1,585,400

(i) Shareholding as at resignation on 21 June 2009.

Company Secretary

Matthew Worner LLB, B.Bus. – appointed 30 January 

2008. Mr Worner is the Company’s Legal Counsel. He is 

a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Western 

Australia and practiced as a corporate lawyer in Perth 

before joining Tap in August 2006.

Damon Neaves LLB, B.Comm, A.S.I.A. – appointed 28 

October 2003, resigned 11 February 2009. Mr Neaves is 

the Company’s Commercial Manager. He is a barrister and 

solicitor of the Supreme Court of Western Australia and 

practiced as a corporate lawyer in Perth before joining Tap 

in March 2003.

6. Changes in State  

of Affairs
During the financial year there was no significant change in 

the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than as 

referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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7. Subsequent Events
Other than as noted above, and since the end of the 

financial year, the directors are not aware of any matter or 

circumstance not otherwise dealt with within the financial 

report that has significantly or may significantly affect the 

operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those 

operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity 

in subsequent financial years.

8. Future Developments
The Consolidated Entity will continue to operate as 

an oil and gas exploration and production and gas 

marketing company. In accordance with its objectives, 

the Consolidated Entity intends to participate in a number 

of exploration and appraisal wells and new development 

projects, and will consider growing its exploration effort 

and production base by farm-in, permit application and/or 

acquisition within its existing operational areas of Australia 

and South East Asia, and in other countries or regions.

Disclosure of specific information regarding likely 

developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity 

in future financial years and the expected results of those 

operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 

Consolidated Entity. Accordingly, such information has not 

been disclosed in this report.

Details of unissued ordinary shares under option at the reporting date are:

Issuing entity
Number of shares 

under option
Exercise price  

of option
Share price at 

31/12/09
In/(Out) of the 

money at 31/12/09
Expiry date of 

options

Tap Oil Limited 175,000 $1.66 $1.17 ($0.49) 13-Mar-10

Tap Oil Limited 150,000 $2.20 $1.17 ($1.03) 30-Jul-10

Tap Oil Limited 14,862 $2.65 $1.17 ($1.48) 30-Nov-10

Tap Oil Limited 189,400 $2.75 $1.17 ($1.58) 19-Jan-11

Tap Oil Limited 577,200 $1.77 $1.17 ($0.60) 29-Jan-11

Tap Oil Limited 49,541 $1.78 $1.17 ($0.61) 9-Apr-11

Tap Oil Limited 90,800 $1.71 $1.17 ($0.54) 14-Jul-11

Tap Oil Limited 10,800 $1.25 $1.17 ($0.08) 3-Sep-11

Tap Oil Limited 300,000 $1.37 $1.17 ($0.20) 3-Sep-11

Tap Oil Limited 315,000 $1.65 $1.17 ($0.48) 25-Sep-11

Tap Oil Limited 28,000 $0.61 $1.17 $0.56 25-Nov-11

Tap Oil Limited 300,000 $0.66 $1.17 $0.51 25-Nov-11

Tap Oil Limited 611,958 $0.83 $1.17 $0.34 23-Jan-12

Tap Oil Limited 2,007,793 $0.90 $1.17 $0.27 23-Jan-12

Tap Oil Limited 375,000 $1.46 $1.17 ($0.29) 6-Feb-12

Tap Oil Limited 133,200 $1.04 $1.17 $0.13 7-Apr-12

Tap Oil Limited 536,000 $1.61 $1.17 ($0.44) 29-Jan-13

Tap Oil Limited 335,000 $1.53 $1.17 ($0.36) 15-Jul-13

6,199,554

9. Environmental 

Regulations
The Consolidated Entity’s policy is to comply with, or 

exceed, its environmental obligations in each jurisdiction 

in which it operates. In Australia, the environmental 

obligations are regulated under both State and Federal 

law. No known environmental breaches have occurred in 

relation to the Consolidated Entity’s operations.

The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 

2007 requires certain companies to report their annual 

greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. As at the date 

of this Report, the Company is not required to submit a 

report in relation to this matter.

10. Share Options
Share options on issue as at the date of this report or 

exercised during the year.

The total number of share options on issue at the date of 

this report is 6,199,554 down from 8,965,847 at the date of 

the previous report.
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The holders of options do not have the right, by virtue of 

the option, to participate in any share issue or interest issue 

of any other body corporate or registered scheme.

There were no shares or interests issued during the 

financial year or up to the date of this report as a result of 

exercise of options.

11. Indemnification of 

Officers and Auditors
During the financial year the Company paid a premium 

in respect of a policy insuring the directors (as named 

above), the Company’s Secretaries, Mr Damon Neaves 

and Mr Matthew Worner, and all executive officers of the 

Company and any related body corporate against a liability 

incurred as such a director, secretary or officer to the 

extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The policy 

of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability 

and the amount of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the 

financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 

indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of 

the Company or of any related body corporate against a 

liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

12. Remuneration Report - 

Audited

12.1 Introduction

The directors have prepared this Remuneration Report 

to outline the overall remuneration strategy, policies and 

practices adopted by the Company in 2009. The Report 

has been prepared in accordance with Section 300A of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and its regulations.

As was foreshadowed at the Company’s 2009 Annual 

General Meeting, the Company is undertaking a 

comprehensive review of its remuneration policies and 

practices. This review is near completion and once 

finalised, shareholders will have the opportunity to consider 

and vote upon the changes arising from the review as 

required by relevant laws. Accordingly, the remuneration 

practices described below are applicable for the year 

ending 31 December 2009 only and are unlikely to reflect 

the Company’s remuneration policies into the future.

Tap’s remuneration policy is designed to attract high quality 

executives and to promote superior performance and long 

term commitment to the Company. Remuneration consists 

of base salary, superannuation, short term and long term 

incentives. Remuneration is determined by reference 

to market conditions and performance. Performance is 

evaluated at an individual level as well as the performance 

of the Company as a whole.

Remuneration arrangements for directors are 

recommended by the Remuneration Committee and 

management recommendations for group executives are 

reviewed and approved by the Remuneration Committee. 

The Remuneration Committee engages independent 

advisers where appropriate to establish market 

benchmarks.

Remuneration arrangements are determined in conjunction 

with the annual review of the performance of directors, 

executives and staff. Performances of the directors and 

Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer are evaluated 

by the Board assisted by the Remuneration Committee. 

The Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer reviews 

the performance of executives with the Remuneration 

Committee. These evaluations take into account criteria 

such as the achievement of the Company’s performance 

benchmarks and the achievement of individual 

performance objectives.

12.2 Overview of Existing 

Remuneration 

Arrangements for 

Directors and Group 

Executives 

An overview of the remuneration arrangements for directors 

and group executives for year ended 31 December 2009 is 

set out below. 

Executive Remuneration Structure

During 2009, both the executive director and group 

executives participated in a remuneration structure 

consisting of the following:

Base salary.

Short Term Incentive – at-risk cash and equity based.

Long Term Incentive – at-risk equity based.

Executive Directors Remuneration

As at 31 December 2009, Mr P J Stickland was the 

only executive director on the Board. Mr Stickland was 

appointed as Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer 

from 11 February 2009 and was previously Chief Executive 

Officer from 1 January 2008.

Executive directors receive a base salary, which reflects 

current market levels, plus short term and long term 

incentives. These incentives are designed to ensure that 

a significant component of the remuneration of executive 

directors is performance-based or “at risk”, so as to align 

their interests with those of the Company’s shareholders.
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Short Term Incentive Award

Under the existing remuneration policy, the amount of the 

short term incentive (“STI”) award earned is determined 

by the achievement of performance objectives achieved 

during the year. The performance objectives are set by 

the Board to reflect the Company’s strategies, business 

plan and budget. A weighting is applied to each of 

the performance objectives and the combined result 

determined the amount of the STI award. The performance 

objectives and their respective weightings are changeable 

from year to year. 

Subject to achieving the performance objectives, the actual 

amount of the STI award earned is a percentage of the 

executive director’s base remuneration package measured 

as follows:

Threshold - 10%

Target - 40%

Outstanding - 60%

If the actual performance fell between these levels then the 

amount of the STI award would be adjusted on a pro-rata 

basis. In no circumstances would the STI award exceed 

60% of the executive director’s base remuneration package.

Under the existing policy, half of the value of the STI award 

is paid in the form of options under the Executive Director 

Option Plan. The number of options issued is the value of 

options to be issued divided by the deemed issue price 

of those options (which shall be an amount equal to 15% 

of the current market price of the Company’s shares). The 

balance of the STI award is paid in shares in the Company 

(at the prevailing market price at that time) or as a cash 

payment, as determined by the Board. For the 2009 year, 

the Board determined to pay the STI award in cash.

Long Term Incentive Award

The long term incentive (“LTI”) award focuses on long term 

sustainable performance improvement. No award was made 

in 2009 under the policy outlined below, however it is the 

Board’s intention to issue an LTI award for 2009 subject to 

completion of the current review and shareholder approval of 

the new policy.

It had been the Company’s policy that the LTI was based on 

the Company’s performance relative to a comparator group 

of companies (“Comparator Group”). With the companies 

comprising the Comparator Group determined by the 

Board these Comparator Group companies were primarily 

companies within the energy sector. The Company’s 

performance relative to the companies in the Comparator 

Group was measured in terms of total shareholder return 

(share price growth and dividends assuming dividends are 

reinvested into the relevant Company’s shares) over a rolling 

three year period.

Under the LTI policy, the award under the LTI was 

calculated by assessing the total shareholder return of the 

Company over the measurement period relative to the total 

shareholder return of each of the companies comprising 

the Comparator Group. The Company would then be 

ranked within the Comparator Group. If the Company was 

ranked above the 50th percentile of the Comparator Group, 

the executive director would be entitled to receive shares 

and options in accordance with the terms of the LTI. 

The value of shares and options that would have been 

awarded to the executive director was a percentage of the 

executive directors’ base remuneration package set out in 

the table below:

Performance 
Level

Ranking
Percentage 

of Base 
Remuneration

Basic 50th percentile 20%

Target 65th percentile 40%

Outstanding 80th percentile 80%

If the performance level fell between the levels set out in 

the table above, then the percentage of base remuneration 

would have been adjusted on a pro rata basis.

Under the policy, unless otherwise determined by the 

Board, or at the request of the executive director, the award 

would have been paid to the executive director in the form 

of shares and options as follows:

for outstanding performance 75% of the award was in 

the form of shares and 25% of the award in the form of 

options;

for basic to target levels of performance the award was 

comprised of shares and options in equal proportions; 

and

if the level of performance was between the target  

and outstanding levels, the value of options offered was 

equivalent to the value offered at the target level and the 

remainder of the award shall be offered in the form of 

shares.

Any shares previously awarded under the LTI were 

acquired on-market under the rules of the Company’s 

Employee and Director Share Plan. Any options previously 

issued under the LTI were issued pursuant to the Executive 

Director Option Plan using the value of options determined 

in the manner specified above divided by the deemed issue 

price of those options (which shall be an amount equal to 

15% of the current market price of the Company’s shares 

on the Australian Stock Exchange at the time the options 

are granted) in order to determine the number issued.

In addition, executive directors were previously eligible to 

participate in the Employee and Director Share Plan on a 

salary sacrifice basis.
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Non-executive Directors 

Remuneration

Non-executive directors receive an annual fee which 

reflects current market levels based on the time, 

responsibilities and commitments associated with the 

proper discharge of their duties as members of the 

Board. Up until May 2009, non-executive directors were 

required to apply 25% of their fees to acquire shares in 

the Company on-market pursuant to the terms of the 

Employee and Director Share Plan. The release of these 

shares from the Company’s share plan occurs on the 

earlier of the expiry of a 10 year period or ceasing to be 

a director. The value of the directors’ holdings increased 

over 2009 in line with movements in share price. Post 

May 2009, non-executive directors received 100% of their 

annual fee in cash.

Under previous remuneration arrangements, non-executive 

directors were eligible to participate in the Employee and 

Director Share Plan on a salary sacrifice basis. Other than 

statutory superannuation, non-executive directors are not 

entitled to any retirement benefits upon their retirement 

from office.

Group Executives and Staff 

Remuneration

Short term incentives had been based on individual and 

Company performance in the form of cash and shares 

offered to group executives and all other staff out of a 

bonus pool based on Company performance. Long term 

incentives had been assessed and awarded solely on 

the individual’s job performance and awards were made 

available through participation in the Company’s Employee 

Incentive Option Scheme, Management Option Plan and 

Employee and Director Share Plan. Participation in the 

Company’s share plan was also available on a salary 

sacrifice basis. In 2009 the Board determined to pay the 

short term incentive award in the form of cash. No award 

was made in 2009 under the policy outlined above, however, 

it is the Board’s intention to issue an LTI award for 2009 

subject to completion of the current review and shareholder 

approval of the new policy.

12.3 Service Agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the 

executive directors, non-executive directors, group 

executives and staff are formalised in service agreements. 

An overview of the service agreements for each of these 

persons is set out below.

Non-executive Directors

The Company has entered into terms of engagement with 

each of P B Lane, N F Taylor, M J Sandy and D W Bailey 

whereby those persons are appointed as non-executive 

directors of the Company. P W Underwood was engaged 

on the same terms up until his resignation on  

21 June 2009. The term of the appointment is determined 

in accordance with the Company’s constitution and is 

subject to the provisions of the constitution dealing with 

retirement, re-election and removal of directors (in this 

regard, the constitution provides that all directors, other 

than the Managing Director, are subject to re-election by 

shareholders by rotation within every three years during the 

term of their appointment). 

The terms of engagement provide that the Company will 

maintain an appropriate level of directors and officers 

insurance and provide access to Company records 

in accordance with the terms of deeds of indemnity, 

insurance and access entered into between the Company 

and each of the non-executive directors. 

The remuneration payable by the Company to non-

executive directors under the terms of the engagement is 

discussed in detail below and shown in the relevant tables.

Executive Directors

At the date of this report, Mr Stickland, the Managing 

Director/Chief Executive Officer, is the only executive 

director.

Mr Stickland was appointed as Managing Director/

Chief Executive Officer under an executive employment 

agreement entered into on 11 February 2009. The term of 

the executive employment agreement expires on  

31 December 2011 and thereafter the term may be 

extended for periods of two years by mutual agreement. 

The Board and Mr Stickland are to discuss the first 

extension in December 2010. Mr Stickland’s base package, 

with effect from 1 January 2010, is $530,000 per annum 

(inclusive of superannuation).

The executive director may terminate his executive 

employment agreement by giving 12 months notice in 

writing, or such shorter period as may be agreed. Save 

for the Company’s right to terminate without notice in 

prescribed circumstances, the Company may terminate 

the executive director’s employment by giving 12 months 

notice in writing or, at the Company’s discretion, a payment 

of 12 months base package in lieu thereof. A range of other 

terms and conditions apply to both Mr Stickland and the 

Company.
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12.4 Elements of 

Remuneration related  

to Performance

The elements of remuneration shown in the columns 

labelled “Bonus” and “Share-based payments” in the tables 

below, as set out under Elements of Director and Executive 

remuneration, are related to Company and individual 

performance. The elements of remuneration shown in 

the remaining columns are not performance related. 

The performance conditions used in the determination 

of performance-based remuneration for the executive 

director and group executives are explained in detail in the 

discussion on remuneration policy set out below. All cash 

bonuses in the tables below were earned in the financial 

year. The value of options shown in the tables below are 

the accounting costs accrued in the financial year for 

options granted in the financial year or in previous financial 

years. No cash bonus awards were forfeited because the 

person did not meet the relevant service or performance 

conditions. Non-executive directors received fixed 

remuneration only.

The Corporations Act requires disclosure of the Company’s 

remuneration policy to contain a discussion of the 

Company’s earnings and performance and the effect of 

the Company’s performance on shareholder wealth in the 

reporting period and the four previous financial years. The 

table below shows the Company’s earnings in the reporting 

period and the previous four financial years as well as 

indicia of the Company’s value over the corresponding 

period:

For 2009 the Board determined a set of Company Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs), reflecting the Company’s 

strategies, business plan and budget. The KPIs included 

performance against budgeted earnings before interest, 

tax, depreciation or exploration (EBITDAX), performance 

against budgeted capital and exploration expenditure, 

reserves replacement, 12 month relative share price 

performance, HSE and management of the Company’s 

portfolio of assets. Against this weighted group of 

indicators the Company performed between Threshold and 

Target with notably good performances against EBITDAX 

(including successful insurance recovery), relative share 

price performance with the Company’s share price having 

improved by 52% over 2009 and HSE in relation to the 

Brunei Seismic Survey.

Chief Executive Officer/ 

Managing Director

The Company has entered into an executive employment 

agreement with Mr P J Stickland as set out above. 

The agreement in place during 2009 provided for a short-

term incentive based on a set of annual performance 

measures set by the Board. Due to changes to and 

uncertainties in relation to legislation regarding the issue of 

securities under company employee incentive schemes, 

the STI award paid to Mr Stickland for the year ended  

31 December 2009 was $160,150 in the form of cash. The 

award reflects positive outcomes to varying degrees in the 

KPIs noted above.

12 months ended Dec 09 Dec 08 Dec 07 Dec 06 Dec 05

NPAT ($millions) 6.7 (7.5) (7.8) 0.8 22.8

EPS (cents) Basic (note 1) 4.3 (4.8) (5.0) 0.5 14.5

EPS (cents) Diluted (note 1) 4.3 (4.8) (5.0) 0.5 14.5

Year end share price ($) 1.17 0.77 2.05 1.52 2.56

Shares on issue (million) 156.5 156.5 156.5 155.9 157.9

Market capitalisation ($ million) 183.1 120.5 320.1 237.0 404.2

1. No dividends were paid during any of the financial years.
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Due to changes to and uncertainties in relation to 

legislation regarding the issue of securities to employees 

under company incentive schemes, no LTI award has been 

paid to Mr P Stickland for performance recorded over the 

year ended 31 December 2009. It is the intention of the 

Company to make an LTI award to Mr Stickland once the 

Company’s revised remuneration policy has been finalised 

and relevant approvals obtained from shareholders. The 

STI shares and LTI options awarded to Mr Stickland for 

his 2008 performance are recorded in the 2009 financial 

results and executive remuneration tables as they were 

granted in 2009.

The Company has entered into a deed of indemnity, 

insurance and access with Mr Stickland whereby the 

Company will maintain an appropriate level of directors 

and officers indemnity insurance and provide access to 

Company records.

Group Executives

Under the present remuneration policy short term 

incentives offered to group executives are awarded on 

the achievement of Company KPIs as noted above and 

based on individual performance. In relation to short 

term incentives paid to group executives in 2009 for 

performance during the year ended 31 December 2008, 

the reward was split as follows:

70% cash; and

30% shares.

Long term incentives consisting of a package of 

management options with vesting conditions dependant 

on pre-determined performance hurdles being met within 

defined time restrictions were provided.

Long and short term incentives were made available 

through participation in the Company’s Management 

Incentive Option Plan and Employee and Director Share 

Plan.

Due to changes and uncertainties in relation to legislation 

regarding the issue of securities under company employee 

incentive schemes, the STI award paid to group executives 

in early 2010 for the year ended 31 December 2009 was 

made in cash. Due to the aforementioned legislative 

changes, no LTI award has been paid to group executives 

for performance recorded for the year ended 31 December 

2009. It is the intention of the Company to make an LTI 

award to group executives once the Company’s revised 

remuneration structure has been finalised and relevant 

approvals obtained from shareholders.

The 2008 LTI award to group executives was made in 

January 2009 in the form of options issued under the 

Management Incentive Option Plan. Under this plan, 

options issued vest in accordance with performance 

conditions set by the Board prior to the date of grant. 

Pursuant to the Management Incentive Option Plan, the 

number of options vesting on the expiry of a two year 

performance period shall be determined by the absolute 

share price growth over the two year period in accordance 

with the following vesting scale. 

Absolute Growth Hurdle
% of Management 

Options Vested

Less than 20% growth 0%

Greater than or equal to 

20% and less than 60% 

growth

 

Pro-rata between 50-100%

Greater than or equal to 

60% growth

100%

The exercise price of the options equals the average 

closing price of the Company’s shares on the Australian 

Securities Exchange during the last five trading days on 

which the Company’s shares were traded immediately 

preceding the option grant date plus twenty percent, 

subject to a minimum exercise price of 50 cents.

All shares issued on exercise of the options will rank equally 

in all respects with the Company’s fully paid ordinary 

shares. The Company will apply for quotation of all shares 

issued upon the exercise of options.

The first options were issued under the Management 

Option Plan in 2008. It is not the current intention of the 

Company to issue any further options under this plan.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity, 

insurance and access with D Neaves, M Worner and D 

Rich whereby the Company will maintain an appropriate 

level of directors and officers indemnity insurance and 

provide access to Company records.

Director and Executive Details

Key management personnel have authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 

activities of the Company and the Consolidated Entity, 

including directors of the Company and other executives. 

Key management personnel and senior personnel include 

the five most highly remunerated S300A directors and 

executives for the Company and the Consolidated Entity.
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After consideration of the nature of each employee’s 

role within the Company, in the opinion of the Board the 

Company had the following key management persons 

during the financial year:

Non-executive Directors

N F Taylor (Chairman)

P B Lane 

M J Sandy

D W Bailey (appointed 11 November 2009)

P W Underwood (resigned 21 June 2009)

Senior Executives

P J Stickland (Chief Executive Officer/Managing Director)

D A Neaves (Commercial Manager)

B M Ulmer (Engineering and Development Manager)

D J Rich (Chief Financial Officer)

J P Scibiorski (Exploration Manager)

R A Cassie (New Ventures Manager)

Elements of Director and Executive 

Remuneration

Remuneration packages contain the following key 

elements:

(a) Short term employee benefits – salary/fees, bonuses 

and non-monetary benefits, such as shares.

(b) Post-employment benefits – including superannuation, 

prescribed retirement benefits and retirement gifts.

(c) Share based payments – share options and shares 

granted under the incentive option and share plans 

administered by the Company. Options are valued using 

the Black and Scholes valuation method at the date of 

grant. The options values are expensed in the profit and 

loss account over the vesting period. At 31 December 

2009 the share price was $1.17. No director or executive 

received a cash benefit from the options having been 

received. Shares are valued at the closing market price 

on the date they are granted and no adjustment is 

made for subsequent movements in share price during 

any vesting period. No cash benefit is received by the 

director or executive until he sells the shares, which 

cannot be done until the shares have vested.

The remuneration of the directors and key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity and the Company is set out below:

2009 Short-term employee benefits
Post-

employment
Share-based payment 

equity settled

Salary  
& fees 

$

Bonus 
(i) 
$

Non-
monetary 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Options 
(ii) 
$

Shares 
(iii) 
$

Total 
$

Non-executive 

directors

N F Taylor 133,028 - - 11,972 - 20,000 165,000

P B Lane 19,495 - - 53,005 - 10,000 82,500

M J Sandy 66,514 - - 5,986 - 10,000 82,500

D W Bailey 10,929 - - 984 - - 11,913

P W Underwood (iv) 30,295 - - 2,727 141,532 5,000 179,554

Executives

P J Stickland 459,945 160,150 2,354 32,844 87,094 130,880 873,268

D A Neaves 295,968 77,678 2,854 20,373 94,501 31,706 523,080

B M Ulmer 400,824 68,106 2,354 36,074 86,628 14,177 608,163

D J Rich 295,826 86,800 2,681 14,174 10,172 14,378 424,031

J P Scibiorski 286,119 49,088 2,354 25,751 37,268 13,053 413,633

R A Cassie 271,983 54,102 2,854 75,000 82,122 10,933 496,994

2,270,927 495,924 15,450 278,891 539,317 260,127 3,860,636
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2008 Short-term employee benefits
Post-

employment
Share-based payment 

equity settled

Salary  
& fees  

$

Bonus 
$

Non-
monetary 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Options 
(ii) 
$

Shares 
(iii) 
$

Total 
$

Non-executive 

directors

N F Taylor 43,486 - - 84,014 - 42,500 170,000

P B Lane - - - 63,750 - 21,250 85,000

M J Sandy 58,486 - - 5,264 - 21,250 85,000

P W Underwood (v) 560,759 70,138 1,177 44,467 430,831 41,231 1,148,603

Executives

P J Stickland 417,872 11,400 2,071 37,880 107,510 158,345 735,078

D A Neaves 274,576 14,189 2,571 24,711 108,318 29,455 453,820

B M Ulmer 381,342 10,309 2,071 35,249 109,752 30,758 569,481

D J Rich 34,420 - 244 1,522 1,010 1,534 38,730

R J Aden 171,226 - 1,368 14,450 34,868 10,559 232,471

R Hall 51,097 - 255 3,811 4,977 2,461 62,601

J P Scibiorski 158,727 4,652 1,283 14,704 11,138 7,126 197,630

R A Cassie 210,684 8,843 2,564 117,126 98,748 20,023 457,988

2,362,675 119,531 13,604 446,948 907,152 386,492 4,236,402

(i) The bonuses relate to 2009 performance and were paid in cash in February 2010.

(ii) The options have been costed using the Black and Scholes model. Further details of the Tap Employee Incentive Option Plan, Tap Executive 

Director Option Plan and Tap Oil Management Incentive Option Plan are contained in note 22(a), (b) and (c).

(iii) Shares are bought on market for key management personnel, pursuant to the Tap Employee and Director Share Plan, as part of their 

remuneration. Further details of this Share Plan are contained in note 22(d).

(iv) Mr Underwood’s 2009 option remuneration relates to the vesting of options earned as an executive director during prior periods. 

(v) Mr Underwood was an executive director until 30 June 2008.

Options and Rights over Equity Instruments Granted

The following options and rights over ordinary shares in the Company were granted to key management personnel during 

and since the reporting period. These were granted as remuneration unless otherwise noted.

Number 
of options 
granted 
during 
2009 (i)

Grant  
date

Fair value 
per option 

at grant 
date

Exercise 
price per 

option 
($)

Share 
price at 
31/12/09 

($)

In/(Out) of 
the money 

($)

Financial 
year in 
which 

options 
vest

Expiry 
date

Number 
of options 

vested 
during 

2009 (ii)

Non-executive 

directors

N F Taylor - - - - - - - - -

P B Lane - - - - - - - - -

M J Sandy - - - - - - - - -

D W Bailey - - - - - - - - -

P W Underwood - - - - - - - - 871,000

Executives

P J Stickland 65,620 23-Jan-09 0.253 0.83 1.17 0.34 2011 23-Jan-12 250,000

D A Neaves 786,373 23-Jan-09 0.077 0.90 1.17 0.27 2011 23-Jan-12 150,000

B M Ulmer 545,749 23-Jan-09 0.077 0.90 1.17 0.27 2011 23-Jan-12 160,000

D J Rich - - - - - - - - -

J P Scibiorski 246,225 23-Jan-09 0.077 0.90 1.17 0.27 2011 23-Jan-12 -

R A Cassie 429,446 23-Jan-09 0.077 0.90 1.17 0.27 2011 23-Jan-12 150,000

(i) Each option entitles the holder to one share in the Company.

(ii) Options granted in prior periods.
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Number 
of shares 
granted 

during 2009 
(iii)

Grant  
date 

Fair value per 
share grant at 

grant date 
$

% vested  
in year 

Number of 
shares vested 
during 2009 

(iv)

Financial years 
in which grant 

vests

Non-executive 

directors

N F Taylor 20,212 (v) 0.99 100% 20,212 2009

P B Lane 10,105 (v) 0.99 100% 10,105 2009

M J Sandy 10,105 (v) 0.99 100% 10,105 2009

D W Bailey - - - - - -

P W Underwood 5,681 26-Mar-09 (v) 0.88 100% 5,681 2009

Executives

P J Stickland (vi) 69,829 23-Jan-09 0.81 19% 62,479 2010

D A Neaves (vii) 26,746 23-Jan-09 0.81 72% 25,348 2010/2011

B M Ulmer (viii) 5,945 23-Jan-09 0.81 - 5,827 2010/2011

D J Rich - - - - 26,071 -

J P Scibiorski (viii) 2,682 23-Jan-09 0.81 - 4,904 2010/2011

R A Cassie (viii) 4,678 23-Jan-09 0.81 - 10,222 2010/2011

(iii) Each share grant entitles the holder to one share in the Company. 

These ‘share rights’ relate to shares held for executives on trust 

by the relevant holding entity pursuant to the Tap Oil Limited 

Employee and Director Share Plan.

(iv) Shares granted in prior periods, as well as salary sacrifices 

in 2009. The shares received through salary sacrifice, vest 

immediately.

(v) The non-executive directors obtained shares through salary 

sacrifice during the 2009 financial year. The dates of salary 

sacrifice for shares were 26 March 2009 and 30 June 2009. 

(vi) A total of 13,540 of the shares granted related to a salary sacrifice 

resulting in immediate vesting of the shares. The rest of the shares 

vest in 2010.

(vii) A total of 19,240 of the shares granted related to a salary sacrifice 

resulting in immediate vesting of the shares. The remaining 7,506 

shares granted vest one third in 2010 and two thirds in 2011.

(viii) Of the total share grant, one third vests in 2010 and two thirds  

in 2011.

The shares granted have no exercise price and no expiry date. No shares granted in the 2009 financial year have been 

forfeited. No options granted in 2009 have vested or have been forfeited in the 2009 financial year. No options or shares 

have been granted since the end of the financial year. The options and shares were provided at no cost to the recipient. 

Options are exercisable from the date of vesting and the details of vesting periods are set out in notes 22(a), (b) and (c).  

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s employment. All shares granted expire 

on termination of the individual’s employment.

Analysis of Movement in Options

The movement during the year, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each key management 

person is detailed below:

Options Granted 
during the year 

$

Options Exercised 
during the year 

$

Options Lapsed 
Value at time of lapse 

$

% of remuneration  
for the year  

consisting of options

Non-executive 

directors

N F Taylor - - - -

P B Lane - - - -

M J Sandy - - - -

D W Bailey - - - -

P W Underwood (i) - - - 79%

Executives

P J Stickland 16,625 - - 10%

D A Neaves 60,239 - - 18%

B M Ulmer 41,806 - - 14%

D J Rich - - - 2%

J P Scibiorski 18,862 - - 9%

R A Cassie 32,897 - - 17%

(i) Mr Underwood’s 2009 option remuneration relates to the amortisation over the vesting period of the value of options earned as an executive 

director during prior periods, and is thus an apparently high percentage when compared to his lower fees as a non-executive director in 2009.

No options were exercised during the year.
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Value of Options – Basis of Calculation

The value of options at the grant date is calculated as the fair value of the options at grant date, using the Black and 

Scholes model, multiplied by the number of options granted.

The value of options exercised is calculated as the difference between the share market value on the date of exercise less 

the exercise price multiplied by the number of options exercised. Any difference between this value and the value at the 

date of grant is not reflected in the financial results.

The value of options included in remuneration for the year is calculated in accordance with Australian Accounting 

Standards. This requires the value of options to be determined at grant date and then included in remuneration for the 

year based proportionately on the vesting period. Where the options vest fully in the year, the full value of the options is 

recognised in remuneration for that year. 

No adjustment is made to the value included in remuneration or the financial results where the option ultimately has a lesser 

or greater value than as at the date of grant. At 31 December 2009 the share price was $1.17 meaning that only 3,099,325 

of the 6,199,554 options outstanding at the date of this financial report were in the money. No director or executive received 

any cash benefit from the options having been received. 

Analysis of Movement in Shares Granted 

The movement during the year, by value, of shares in the Company held by each non-executive director and key 

management person is detailed below.

Shares Granted 
during the year 

$

Shares Lapsed 
Value at time of lapse 

$

% of remuneration for the 
year consisting of shares

Non-executive directors

N F Taylor (i) 20,000 - 12%

P B Lane (i) 10,000 - 12%

M J Sandy (i) 10,000 - 12%

D W Bailey - - -

P W Underwood (i) 5,000 - 3%

Executives

P J Stickland (ii) 57,000 - 15%

D A Neaves (iii) 22,280 - 6%

B M Ulmer 4,816 - 2%

D J Rich - - 3%

J P Scibiorski 2,173 - 3%

R A Cassie 3,790 - 2%

(i) The non-executive directors obtained shares through salary sacrifice during the 2009 financial year.

(ii) Of the total value granted in 2009, $11,400 relates to a salary sacrifice.

(iii) Of the total value granted in 2009, $16,199 relates to a salary sacrifice.

Value of Shares Granted – Basis of Calculation

The value of a share grant is calculated as the share price on the date the shares are purchased to be held in trust until 

vesting or other conditions occur.

12.3 Review of Company Remuneration Policy

As was foreshadowed at the Company’s 2009 Annual General Meeting, the Company is undertaking a comprehensive 

review of its remuneration policies and practices. This review is near completion and once finalised, shareholders will have 

the opportunity to consider and vote upon the changes arising from the review as required by the relevant laws.

13. Non-Audit Services
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by another person 

or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act. During the current period there were no non-audit services provided.

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined 

in note 25 to the financial statements.
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14. Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 44 of the financial report. The directors are satisfied that the 

provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is 

compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

15. Rounding off of Amounts
The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance 

with that Class Order amounts in the directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand 

dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

N F Taylor 

Chairman

West Perth, Western Australia 

26 February 2010
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Auditor’s Independence 

Declaration

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

A.B.N. 74 490 121 060 

 

Woodside Plaza 

240 St Georges Terrace 

Perth WA 6000 

GPO Box A46 

Perth WA Australia 

 

Tel:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7000 

Fax:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7001 

www.deloitte.com.au 

 

 

26 February 2010 

 

 

Dear Board Members 

 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION TO TAP OIL LIMITED 

 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the 

following declaration of independence to the directors of Tap Oil Limited. 

 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Tap Oil Limited for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2009, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 

been no contraventions of: 

 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 

the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

 

Kathleen Bozanic 

Partner  

Chartered Accountants 

 

The Board of Directors 

Tap Oil Limited 

Level 1, 47 Colin Street 

WEST PERTH WA 6005 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of 

Tap Oil Limited 
 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Tap Oil Limited, which comprises the balance 

sheet as at 31 December 2009, and the statement of comprehensive income, the cash flow statement 

and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the 

consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 

time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 47 to 92.  

 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and 

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that 

is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In 

Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 

Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial 

Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, 

complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we 

comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

ABN 74 490 121 060 

 

Woodside Plaza 

Level 14 

240 St Georges Terrace 

Perth WA 6000 

GPO Box A46 

Perth WA 6837 Australia 

 

DX 206 

Tel:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7000 

Fax:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7001 

www.deloitte.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 

Act 2001.  

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion:  

(a) the financial report of Tap Oil Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 

December 2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages We have audited the Remuneration Report included 34 to 42 of the directors’ report for the 

year ended 31 December 2009. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 

presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the presentation of the Remuneration Report in Corporations Act 

2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 

conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Tap Oil Limited for the year ended 31 December 2009, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

Kathleen Bozanic 

Partner 

Chartered Accountants 

Perth, 26 February 2010 
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The directors declare that:

(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable;

(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and 

performance of the Company and the Consolidated Entity; and

(c) the directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

N F Taylor 

Chairman

West Perth, Western Australia 

26 February 2010

Directors’ Declaration
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Consolidated Company

Note
2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Revenue 2(a) 58,018 61,382 - -

Cost of sales 2(b) (48,398) (34,798) - -

Gross profit 9,620 26,584 - -

Other revenue 2(a) 889 2,771 149 1,716

Other income 2(c) 23,654 678 - -

Administration expenses 2(d) (7,206) (11,194) (6,206) (10,784)

Finance costs 2(e) (825) (1,325) - (548)

Other expenses 2(f) (18,129) (22,014) (1,637) 1,780

Profit/(Loss) before tax 8,003 (4,500) (7,694) (7,836)

Income tax and PRRT (expense)/benefit 3(a) (1,328) (3,046) 2,243 2,477

Profit/(Loss) for the year 6,675 (7,546) (5,451) (5,359)

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 6,675 (7,546) (5,451) (5,359)

Earnings per share:

Basic (cents per share) 14 4.3 (4.8)

Diluted (cents per share) 14 4.3 (4.8)

The statements of comprehensive income are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of comprehensive income

for the financial year ended 31 December 2009
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Consolidated Company

Note
2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 20(a) 59,438 54,045 29,321 12,370

Trade and other receivables 4 9,885 8,763 1,040 548

Inventories 5 6,210 8,441 - -

Current tax asset 3(b) - 577 - 577

Other financial assets 7 - - 48,208 50,771

Other current assets 6 9,329 7,735 1,365 2,177

Total current assets 84,862 79,561 79,934 66,443

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 7 - - 31,753 31,753

Property, plant and equipment 8 117,451 135,068 685 878

Deferred exploration expenditure 9 113,911 100,336 - -

Deferred tax assets 3(c) - - 247 886

Total non-current assets 231,362 235,404 32,685 33,517

Total assets 316,224 314,965 112,619 99,960

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 18,411 30,515 1,362 4,228

Current tax liability 3(b) 2,716 - 2,716 -

Provisions 12 318 340 318 340

Other financial liabilities 11 - - 19,287 1,769

Total current liabilities 21,445 30,855 23,683 6,337

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 3(c) 45,231 46,619 - -

Provisions 12 25,871 21,229 89 65

Total non-current liabilities 71,102 67,848 89 65

Total liabilities 92,547 98,703 23,772 6,402

 

Net assets 223,677 216,262 88,847 93,558

Equity

Issued capital 13 89,758 89,758 89,758 89,758

Share options reserve 4,252 3,512 4,252 3,512

Retained earnings 129,667 122,992 (5,163) 288

Total equity 223,677 216,262 88,847 93,558

The balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Balance sheet

as at 31 December 2009
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Note
Issued 
capital 

$’000

Share 
options 

reserve (i) 
$’000

Retained 
earnings 

$’000

Total 
$’000

Consolidated

Balance at 1 January 2008 89,758 3,065 130,538 223,361

Loss for the year - - (7,546) (7,546)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (7,546) (7,546)

Recognition of share-based payments 2(d) - 447 - 447

Balance at 31 December 2008 89,758 3,512 122,992 216,262

Profit for the year - - 6,675 6,675

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 6,675 6,675

Recognition of share-based payments 2(d) - 740 - 740

Balance at 31 December 2009 89,758 4,252 129,667 223,677

Company

Balance at 1 January 2008 89,758 3,065 5,647 98,470

Loss for the year - - (5,359) (5,359)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (5,359) (5,359)

Recognition of share-based payments 2(d) - 447 - 447

Balance at 31 December 2008 89,758 3,512 288 93,558

Loss for the year - - (5,451) (5,451)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (5,451) (5,451)

Recognition of share-based payments 2(d) - 740 - 740

Balance at 31 December 2009 89,758 4,252 (5,163) 88,847

(i) The share options reserve reflects the cost of option-related share-based payments – refer note 1(s).

The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of changes in equity

for the financial year ended 31 December 2009
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Consolidated Company

Note
2009

$’000

2008

$’000

2009

$’000

2008

$’000

Cash ! ows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 57,474 71,222 - 2,281

Payments to suppliers and employees (45,312) (43,127) (2,265) (8,903)

Insurance receipts 19,295 7,721 - -

Government royalties paid (1,166) (1,499) - -

Interest received 820 2,771 133 1,725

Income taxes recovered/(paid) 577 754 577 1,474

Net cash provided by/(used in)  

operating activities 20(b) 31,688 37,842 (1,555) (3,423)

Cash ! ows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (558) (16,983) (199) (257)

Payments for exploration expenditure (19,966) (65,428) - -

Payments for restoration expenditure (113) - - -

Proceeds from disposal of permit interests 70 500 - -

Net cash used in investing activities (20,567) (81,911) (199) (257)

Cash ! ows from financing activities

Loans from/(to) subsidiaries - - 19,788 (16,904)

Payments for financing costs - (548) - (548)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities - (548) 19,788 (17,452)

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 11,121 (44,617) 18,034 (21,132)

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 

of the financial year 54,045 96,777 12,370 33,400

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance 

of cash held in foreign currencies (5,728) 1,885 (1,083) 102

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

financial year 20(a) 59,438 54,045 29,321 12,370

The cash flow statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Cash ! ow statement

for the financial year ended 31 December 2009
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Note Contents

1 Summary of accounting policies

2 Profit for the year
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6 Other current assets

7 Other financial assets

8 Property, plant and equipment

9 Deferred exploration expenditure

10 Trade and other payables

11 Other financial liabilities

12 Provisions

13 Issued capital

14 Earnings per share

15 Commitments for expenditure

16 Leases

17 Segment information

18 Interests in jointly controlled operations and assets

19 Subsidiaries

20 Notes to the cash flow statement

21 Financial instruments

22 Share-based payments
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27 Subsequent events

28 General information

Notes to the financial statements 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2009
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1. Summary of accounting policies

 Statement of compliance

 The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law. 

 The financial report includes the separate financial statement of the Company and the consolidated financial statements 

of the Consolidated Entity.

 The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 26 February 2010. 

 Basis of preparation

 The financial report has been prepared in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted, and on the basis of historical cost, 

except for the revaluation of financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange 

for assets.

 The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10July1998, and in accordance with 

that Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

 Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies 

the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other 

events is reported.

 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of  

estimation uncertainty

 In the application of IFRS management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values 

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the 

results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Refer to note 1(u) for a discussion of 

critical judgements in applying the entities policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty.

 Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effects on the financial statements and 

estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant 

notes to the financial statements.
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 Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards

 In the current year the Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued 

by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual 

reporting period. The following Standards and Interpretations were adopted:

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007), AASB2007-8 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs (revised), AASB 2007-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 

AASB 123

AASB 8 Operating Segments, AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8

AASB 2007-10 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101

AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Share-based Payments: Vesting Conditions and 

Cancellations

AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,  

Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

 The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial position or performance of 

the Consolidated Entity. 

 The Consolidated Entity has not elected to early adopt any new standards or amendments.

 Policies

 The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks, demand deposits, the Consolidated Entity’s 

share of joint venture bank balances and investments in money market instruments. Cash equivalents are short-

term, and highly liquid investments.

Any bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

(b) Comparative amounts

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial report is amended, comparative amounts are 

reclassified unless the reclassification is impracticable.

(c) Derivative financial instruments

The Consolidated Entity may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to oil price 

movements and foreign exchange rate risk. As at 31 December 2009 there were no such instruments in place.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 

immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event, the timing of 

the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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1. Summary of accounting policies (cont’d)
Cash flow hedge

At 31 December 2009, there are no outstanding cash flow hedges (31 December 2008: Nil).

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 

are deferred in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit 

or loss. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or 

no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in 

equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast 

transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

(d) Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 

service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12months are measured at their 

nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are 

measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Consolidated Entity in 

respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Contributions to superannuation plans are expensed when incurred. 

(e) Financial assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the company financial statements.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or 

loss’, ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification 

depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans to related parties are recorded at the amortised cost amount, with no fixed due date, nor is interest charged 

on the outstanding balance.

Trade Receivables and Loans

Loans and receivables are recorded at the amortised cost amount using the effective interest rate method  

less impairment. 

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for indications of impairment 

at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one 

or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the 

investment have been impacted.

(f) Financial instruments issued by the Company

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangement. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 

entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Consolidated Entity are recorded at the 

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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(g) Foreign currency

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect on 

the dates of the transactions. 

At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing on the balance sheet date. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange 

differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (refer note 1(c)) are 

recognised in the hedge reserve.

(h) Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Consolidated Entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 

any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Consolidated Entity 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 

estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 

cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 

loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the 

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit 

or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment 

loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(i) Trade payables and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost and represent liabilities for goods and services 

provided to the Consolidated Entity prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the 

Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and 

services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Included in other payables is income received in advance. This represents oil and gas sales for which payment has 

been received, but the oil and gas has not yet been delivered. The oil and gas revenue will be recognised in the 

profit/loss when the oil and gas is delivered to the customers in future periods.

(j) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of  

fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate 

to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis. Net realisable 

value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in 

marketing, selling and distribution.

(k) Joint ventures

Interests in jointly controlled assets and operations are reported in the financial statements by including the 

Consolidated Entity’s share of assets employed in the joint ventures, the share of liabilities incurred in relation 

to the joint ventures and the share of any expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures in their respective 

classification categories.
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1. Summary of accounting policies (cont’d)
(l) Leased assets

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(m) Petroleum exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is brought to account at cost and is classified as tangible assets.

Ongoing costs of acquisition, exploration and evaluation are capitalised in relation to each separate area of interest 

in which rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and in respect of which:

i. such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area or 

alternatively by their sale, or

ii. exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not yet reached the stage which permits a reasonable 

assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations  

are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 

carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

All exploration permits are treated as separate areas of interest.

Once an area of interest enters a development phase, all capitalised acquisition, exploration and evaluation 

expenditure is transferred to development costs within property, plant and equipment.

(n) Petroleum Resources Rent Tax and Government royalties

PRRT is recognised as an income tax expense on an accruals basis when the corresponding sales are recognised 

and an amount calculated in accordance with government legislative requirements will be payable on those sales.

PRRT is accounted for in relation to the Consolidated Entity’s sales from the Woollybutt Joint Venture operations. 

PRRT is calculated at the rate of 40% of sales revenues less certain permitted deductions and is tax deductible for 

income tax purposes.

(o) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that 

comprise the Consolidated Entity, being the Company (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries. A list of subsidiaries is 

included in note 19 to the financial statements. Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the 

date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is 

recognised as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired exceed the cost 

of acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition. 

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which 

the Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to control such entity. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised 

profits arising within the Consolidated Entity are eliminated in full.

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in its functional currency being the currency 

of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. For the purposes of the consolidated financial 

statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Australian dollars, which is the 

functional currency of Tap Oil Limited and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

The functional currency of all the entities in the Consolidated Entity is Australian dollars. 
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(p) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and equipment under finance lease are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 

of the item. In the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by 

discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. 

Depreciation is calculated on property, plant and equipment, other than capitalised development costs and 

leasehold improvement costs, on a declining balance basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its 

expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the 

lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method. The estimated useful lives, 

residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

 Office improvements, furniture & equipment 3 – 12 years

 Development expenditure Unit of production

 Oil & gas facilities Unit of production

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the commencement of production on a unit of production basis 

over recoverable reserves. Recoverable reserves are subject to review annually. The recoverable reserves are 

estimates calculated from available production and reservoir data and are subject to change. A significant change in 

estimate could give rise to a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next annual 

reporting period.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic 

benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 

present value of those cash flows.

Restoration provisions have been based on external studies which estimated the cost of restoration work required at 

the end of the useful life of the producing fields, including removal of facilities and equipment required or intended to 

be removed, together with abandonment of production wells. Where a restoration obligation is assumed as part of 

the acquisition of an asset or obligation, the liability is initially measured at the present value of the future cash flows 

to settle the present obligation as at the acquisition date. The unwinding of the discount implicit in the present value 

calculations is included in finance costs.

(r) Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Consolidated Entity has transferred to the buyer the 

significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Tolling revenue

Tolling revenue, received based on the volume of third party usage of Harriet Joint Venture facilities and associated 

sales gas pipeline, is recognised as services are provided.

Dividend and interest revenue

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis 

that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset.
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1. Summary of accounting policies (cont’d)
(s) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the grant date. Fair value is measured under 

the Black and Scholes model in circumstances where the value cannot be determined based on the service being 

delivered. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Consolidated Entity’s estimate of the number of options and 

shares that will eventually vest.

(t) Taxation

Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the 

cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 

payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising 

from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 

operating cash flows.

Current tax

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable 

profit or tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent 

that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Temporary differences are differences 

between the tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in the balance sheet. The tax base of an asset 

or liability is the amount attributed to the asset or liability for tax purposes.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 

recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible 

temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and 

liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. 

Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 

and the Company/Consolidated Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates 

to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or 

where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the 

determination of goodwill or excess.
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Tax consolidation

The Company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under 

Australian taxation law. Tap Oil Limited is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/income, 

deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-

consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated 

group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets 

arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the 

Company (as head entity in the tax-consolidated group).

Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts 

are recognised as payable to or receivable by the Company and each member of the group in relation to the tax 

contribution amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and the other members of the tax-consolidated 

group in accordance with the arrangement. Further information about the tax funding arrangement is detailed 

in note 3 to the financial statements. Where the tax contribution amount is recognised by each member of the 

tax-consolidated group for a particular period is different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and 

any deferred tax asset arising from unused tax credits in respect of that period, the difference is recognised as a 

contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants.

(u) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the 

judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions:

i. Impairment of assets

In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of quoted market prices, estimations are 

made regarding the present value of future cash flows. For oil and gas properties, expected future cash flow 

estimation is based on reserves, future production profiles, commodity prices and costs. 

ii. Restoration provisions

The Consolidated Entity estimates the future removal costs of oil and gas facilities at the time of installation 

of the asset. The removal of assets occurs many years into the future. This requires assumptions regarding 

removal date, future environmental legislation, the extent of reclamation activities required, the engineering 

methodology for estimating cost, future removal technologies in determining the removal cost, and asset 

specific discount rates to determine the present value of these cash flows.

iii. Reserves estimates

Estimates of recoverable quantities of proven and probable reserves include assumptions regarding commodity 

prices, exchange rates, discount rates and production and transportation costs for future cash flows. It also 

requires interpretation of geological and geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, 

shape, depth and quality of reservoirs and their anticipated recoveries. The economic, geological and technical 

factors used to estimate reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported reserves can impact 

asset carrying values, the provision for restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, due to changes 

in expected future cash flows. Reserves are integral to the amount of depreciation, depletion and amortisation 

charged to the income statement and the calculation of inventory.
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1. Summary of accounting policies (cont’d)
(v) Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not 

yet effective:

New or revised requirement

Effective for annual 

reporting periods 

beginning on or after

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (2009), AASB 2009-12 Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards
1 January 2011

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
1 January 2013

AASB 2009-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 

Annual Improvements Process
1 July 2009

AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from the Annual Improvements Process
1 January 2010

AASB 2009-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 July 2009

AASB 2009-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Group Cash-

Settled Share-based Payment Transactions
1 January 2010

AASB 2009-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification 

of Rights Issues
1 February 2010

AASB 3 Business Combinations (2008), AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements (2008), AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127 

1 July 2009

AASB 2008-6 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 

from the Annual Improvements Project
1 July 2009

Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners and AASB 

2008-13 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 

Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners

1 July 2009

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Liabilities with Equity Instruments 1 July 2010

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB/

IFRIC where an equivalent Australian Standard or Interpretation has not been made by the AASB, were in issue but 

not yet effective:

New or revised requirement

Effective for annual 

reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Classification of Rights Issues - Amendment to IAS 32 1 February 2010

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (revised 2009) 1 January 2011

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2013

The directors note that the impact of the initial application of the Standards and Interpretations is not yet known 

or is not reasonably estimable. These Standards and Interpretations will be first applied in the financial report of 

the Consolidated Entity that relates to the annual reporting period beginning on or after the effective date of each 

pronouncement.
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Consolidated Company

2009  
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2. Profit for the year

(a) Revenue

Sales of oil and gas 54,019 61,151 - -

Other revenue – tolling fees 3,999 231 - -

58,018 61,382 - -

Interest received 889 2,771 149 1,716

58,907 64,153 149 1,716

(b) Cost of sales

Depreciation of production facilities 3,037 1,862 - -

Depreciation of capitalised development costs 19,233 14,987 - -

Government royalties 1,166 1,499 - -

Other production costs 24,962 16,450 - -

48,398 34,798 - -

(c) Other Income 

Insurance proceeds (i) 23,241 - - -

Other 413 678 - -

23,654 678 - -

(i) Included in the 2009 insurance proceeds is an amount of $21.687 million (2008: Nil) relating to the final net settlement of USD 20.07 

million received in relation to the business interruption and property damage insurance claims stemming from the Varanus Island 

incident on 3 June 2008.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

(d) Administration expenses

Profit/(loss) before income tax has been arrived at 

after charging the following:

Employee benefit expenses:

Post employment benefits:

Superannuation contributions 630 787 630 787

Share-based payments:

Equity settled share-based payments (i) 1,162 447 1,162 447

Other 6,270 6,310 6,270 6,305

8,062 7,544 8,062 7,539

Depreciation of office fixed assets 408 537 408 537

Operating lease rental payments 636 807 636 805

Other expenses, net of recoveries (ii) (1,900) 2,306 (2,900) 1,903

7,206 11,194 6,206 10,784

(i) Of the total share-based payment expense for the 2009 financial year, $712,000 relates to options issued and $450,000 relates to 

prepaid shares allocated to employees. The $712,000 represents the net share-based payment expense relating to options after 

recoveries from operated joint ventures. The gross share-based payment expense relating to options prior to recharge is $740,000. 

Refer to note 22 for the vesting terms of the options and the prepaid shares. 

(ii) The other expenses are shown net of recoveries. The recoveries represent costs, including time spent by the Company’s employees 

on exploration and production interests, which get recharged to the applicable exploration and production interests.
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2. Profit for the year 

(cont’d)

(e) Finance costs

Notional interest from unwinding discount on 

restoration provisions 825 777 - -

Other - 548 - 548

825 1,325 - 548

(f) Other expenses

Exploration impairment losses 132 20,519 - -

Exploration expenditure write-downs 2,052 655 - -

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 3,047 (8,227) 1,083 (1,798)

Varanus Island repairs (i) 5,657 9,049 - -

Woollybutt FPSO life extension costs (ii) 6,628 - - -

Allowance for non-recovery of subsidiary debt - - 293 -

Other 613 18 261 18

18,129 22,014 1,637 (1,780)

(i) Relates to the repairs to the Varanus Island operating facilities which were damaged as a result of the incident on 3 June 2008. 

These expenses were included in cost of sales in the prior financial year and have been reclassified to other expenses in 2009 to 

reflect the non-recurring nature of the expense. The reclassification had no impact on the 2008 overall loss for the year.

(ii) Relates to the Woollybutt FPSO dry-dock costs (inclusive of FPSO operating lease payments during the dry dock period). The 

Woollybutt FPSO was off-station from 28 April 2009 and for the remainder of the 2009 financial year there was no production.

(g) Depreciation

Depreciation charges are included above in cost of sales (b) and administration (d) expenses. Total depreciation for the 

Consolidated Entity is $22.678 million (2008: $17.386 million).
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

3. Income taxes
(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Tax expense (benefit) comprises:

Current tax expense/(income) 3,771 (867) (2,805) (720)

Adjustments recognised in the current year in 

relation to the current tax of prior years (1,055) (1,051) (77) (1,051)

Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the 

origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,049) 3,657 639 (706)

Deferred PRRT tax expenses/(income) (339) 1,307 - -

Total tax expense/(income) 1,328 3,046 (2,243) (2,477)

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax 

accounting profit from operations reconciles to the 

income tax expense in the financial statements as 

follows: 

Profit/(loss) from operations 8,003 (4,500) (7,694) (7,836)

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 2,401 (1,350) (2,308) (2,351)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 223 977 311 917

Income not assessable for tax purposes (161) - (44) -

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised 

as deferred tax assets 1,400 4,469 - -

Foreign tax rate adjustment (213) (671) - -

PRRT related tax expense/(benefit) (339) 1,307 - -

Other (928) (635) (125) 8

2,383 4,097 (2,166) (1,426)

Adjustments recognised in the current year in 

relation to the current tax of prior years (1,055) (1,051) (77) (1,051)

Income tax expense/(income) 1,328 3,046 (2,243) (2,477)

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on 

taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the 

previous reporting period.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

(b) Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets: 

Tax refund receivable - 577 - 577

Current tax liabilities: 

Tax payable 2,716 - 2,716 -

(c) Deferred tax balances 

Deferred tax assets comprise:

Temporary differences – refer below - - 247 886

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:

Temporary differences – refer below 45,231 46,619 - -

(d) Franking account balance

On a tax paid basis 54,234 54,812 54,234 54,812
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3. Income taxes (cont’d)
Deferred tax balances

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) arise from the following: 

Opening 
balance

Charged 
to income

Charged 
to equity

Acquisi- 
tions/ 

disposals

Exchange 
differen- 

ces

Changes 
in tax rate

Closing 
balance

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated

2009

Income tax losses carried 

forward 867 (867) - - - - -

Property, plant & equipment (19,472) 1,164 - - - - (18,308)

Deferred exploration (34,069) (1,327) - - - - (35,396)

Restoration provisions 6,349 1,386 - - - - 7,735

Others (294) 1,032 - - - - 738

(46,619) 1,388 - - - - (45,231)

2008

Income tax losses carried 

forward - 867 - - - - 867

Property, plant & equipment (13,758) (5,714) - - - - (19,472)

Deferred exploration (33,566) (503) - - - - (34,069)

Restoration provisions 5,188 1,161 - - - - 6,349

Others (386) 92 - - - - (294)

(42,522) (4,097) - - - - (46,619)

Company

2009

Income tax losses carried 

forward 867 (867) - - - - -

Property, plant & equipment (26) 14 - - - - (12)

Employee provisions 153 (31) - - - - 122

Others (108) 245 - - - - 137

886 (639) - - - - 247

2008

Income tax losses carried 

forward - 867 - - - - 867

Property, plant & equipment (14) (12) - - - - (26)

Employee provisions 297 (144) - - - - 153

Others (103) (5) - - - - (108)

180 706 - - - - 886

Consolidated Company

Unrecognised deferred tax balances

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

The following deferred tax assets, relating to foreign 

operations, have not been brought to account as 

assets: 

Tax losses – revenue 8,111 7,983 - -
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Tax consolidation

Relevance of tax consolidation to the Consolidated Entity

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from  

1 January 2004 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated 

group is Tap Oil Limited. The members of the tax-consolidated group are identified at note 19.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding and tax sharing arrangement with the head 

entity. Under the terms of the tax funding agreement, each of the entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to 

pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the head entity based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity. 

Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax-consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides for the determination 

of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. 

The effect of the tax sharing agreement is that each member’s liability for tax payable by the tax consolidated group is 

limited to the amount payable to the head entity under the tax funding arrangement.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

4. Trade and other 

receivables
Trade receivables (i) 7,927 5,677 - 1

Allowance for doubtful debts (124) - - -

7,803 5,677 - 1

Joint venture debtors 964 1,813 - 9

Other 1,118 1,273 1,040 538

9,885 8,763 1,040 548

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -

Doubtful debts charge for the year 124 - - -

Balance at the end of the year 124 - - -

(i) Trade receivables relate to oil and gas sales on terms that include payment 30 days from delivery.

An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is 

impaired. The age of the receivable included in the allowance for doubtful debts is +120 days. There are no amounts 

included in the Consolidated Entity’s trade receivable balance (2008: Nil) which are past due, but not considered impaired, 

at the reporting date. The Consolidated Entity does not hold any collateral over the accounts receivable balances. 

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

5. Inventories
Materials and consumables – at cost 4,639 3,153 - -

Oil in storage – at cost 1,571 5,288 - -

6,210 8,441 - -
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

6. Other current assets
Prepayments 1,394 2,196 1,365 2,177

Prepaid gas 7,935 5,539 - -

9,329 7,735 1,365 2,177

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

7. Other financial assets – 

current
Receivable from subsidiaries - - 78,199 80,469

Allowance for non-recovery (i) - - (29,991) (29,698)

- - 48,208 50,771

(i) Movement in allowance for non-recovery

Balance at beginning of year - - 29,698 29,698

Increase in allowance recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income - - 293 -

Balance at end of year - - 29,991 29,698

The receivables from subsidiaries are at call and bear no interest. In determining the recoverability of an amount owing 

by subsidiaries the Company considers any change in the financial position of the subsidiaries. Accordingly, the directors 

believe that there is no further provision required in excess of the allowance for non-recovery.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Other financial assets – non-current

Shares in subsidiaries – at cost - - 31,753 31,753
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

8. Property, plant and 

equipment
Oil and gas facilities

Gross carrying amount – at cost:

Opening balance 41,968 41,598 - -

Additions 509 370 - -

Closing balance 42,477 41,968 - -

Accumulated depreciation:

Opening balance 25,904 24,042 - -

Depreciation 3,037 1,862 - -

Closing balance 28,941 25,904 - -

Net book value 13,536 16,064 - -

Development expenditures

Gross carrying amount – at cost:

Opening balance 296,615 270,306 - -

Additions 3,756 12,483 - -

Transfer from exploration expenditure 609 13,826 - -

Closing balance (i) 300,980 296,615 - -

Accumulated depreciation:

Opening balance 178,517 163,530 - -

Depreciation 19,233 14,987 - -

Closing balance 197,750 178,517 - -

Net book value 103,230 118,098 - -

Office improvements, furniture & equipment

Gross carrying amount – at cost:

Opening balance 3,971 3,652 3,908 3,652

Additions 227 319 227 256

Asset write-offs (541) - (478) -

Closing balance 3,657 3,971 3,657 3,908

Accumulated depreciation:

Opening balance 3,065 2,493 3,030 2,493

Acquired - 35 - -

Asset write-offs (501) - (466) -

Depreciation 408 537 408 537

Closing balance 2,972 3,065 2,972 3,030

Net book value 685 906 685 878

Total – net book value 117,451 135,068 685 878

(i) The cost of development expenditures includes an amount of $19.728 million for abandonment assets (2008:$14.923 million).
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

9. Deferred exploration 

expenditure
Exploration and/or evaluation phase

At cost 150,565 136,858 - -

Less: impairment provisions (36,654) (36,522) - -

Net carrying value 113,911 100,336 - -

Reconciliation of movement:

Opening balance 100,336 63,532 - -

Current year exploration expenditure 16,368 71,804 - -

Exploration expenditure write-downs (2,052) (655) - -

Exploration expenditure impairment (132) (20,519) - -

Transfer to development expenditures (609) (13,826) - -

Closing balance 113,911 100,336 - -

Ultimate recoupment of this expenditure is dependent upon the continuance of the Consolidated Entity’s right to tenure 

of the areas of interest and the discovery of commercially viable oil and gas reserves, their successful development and 

exploitation, or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest at an amount at least equal to book value.

Impairment losses are provided when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Exploration expenditure is written off and any related impairment losses released when permits are relinquished or disposed.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

10. Trade and other 

payables
Trade payables (i) 6,953 8,657 1,362 4,159

Share of joint venture payables (i) 4,753 8,566 - -

Goods and services tax (GST) payable 644 820 - -

Other payables - 133 - 69

Refundable insurance proceeds (ii) - 7,721 - -

Income received in advance 6,061 4,618 - -

18,411 30,515 1,362 4,228

(i) The credit period on purchases averages between 7 and 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables. The Consolidated Entity 

has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 

(ii) In 2008 Tap had received provisional payments of US$5.143 (A$7.721 million) from its insurers in regards to business interruption. 

At 31 December 2008 these amounts were recognised under current liabilities as the amounts were repayable to the insurers until 

such time as liability was formally accepted by the insurers. The insurance claim was settled in 2009 and the provisional insurance 

receipts and the insurance received in the 2009 financial year have been recognised as other income – refer to note 2(c).

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

11. Other financial liabilities
Borrowings from subsidiaries (i) - - 19,287 1,769

(i) The borrowings from subsidiaries are at call and bear no interest.
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

12. Provisions
Current

Employee benefits 318 340 318 340

Non-current

Employee benefits 89 65 89 65

Restoration costs 25,782 21,164 - -

25,871 21,229 89 65

Restoration costs provision

Reconciliation of movement:

Opening balance 21,164 17,484 - -

Additional provisions recognised 3,793 2,903 - -

Unwinding of discount 825 777 - -

Closing balance 25,782 21,164 - -

The provision for restoration costs represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the future sacrifice of 

economic benefits that will be required to remove plant and equipment and abandon producing and suspended wells. 

The unexpired terms used in the present value calculations are various periods up to the year 2022. 

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

13. Issued capital
156,485,921 fully paid ordinary shares  

(2008: 156,485,921) 89,758 89,758 89,758 89,758

Changes to the then Corporations Law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital 

from 1 July 1998. Therefore, the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not 

have a par value.

2009 2008

No. 
’000

 
$’000

No. 
’000

 
$’000

Fully paid ordinary shares

Balance at beginning of financial year 156,486 89,758 156,486 89,758

Issue of shares under share-based payment 

schemes (note 22) - - - -

Balance at end of financial year 156,486 89,758 156,486 89,758

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Share options

In accordance with the provisions of the share-based payment schemes employees had 8,172,428 outstanding options 

over ordinary shares at 31 December 2009. A total of 2,827,726 of the options had already vested at 31 December 2009 

and 1,972,874 have since expired unexercised or lapsed, resulting in an outstanding balance of 6,199,554 as at the date 

of this financial report. A further 339,862 options with an average exercise price of $1.95 have an expiry date in 2010.

At 31 December 2008 employees had 6,526,503 outstanding options over ordinary shares. A total of 1,764,400 of the 

options had already vested at 31 December 2008. A total of 391,619 options were forfeited and 835,000 options expired 

unexercised during the 2009 financial year.

The share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. Further details of the share-based payment schemes 

are contained in note 22 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated

2009 
Cents per 

share

2008 
Cents per 

share

14. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share 4.3 (4.8)

Diluted earnings per share 4.3 (4.8)

Basic earnings per share:

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 

of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Earnings (a) 6,675 (7,546)

2009 
No.’000

2008 
No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per 

share 156,486 156,486

Diluted earnings per share:

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 

of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Earnings (a) 6,675 (7,546)

2009 
No.’000

2008 
No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per 

share (b) 156,896 156,520

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

(a) Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings 

per share 6,675 (7,546)

(b) The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted 

earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

2009 
No.’000

2008 
No.’000

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic EPS 156,486 156,486

 Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of employee options 410 34

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted 

EPS 156,896 156,520

Of the 8,172,428 options on issue at 31 December 2009 (2008: 6,526,503), there were 5,196,703 options (2008: 

6,188,903) out of the money and hence not dilutive and these were therefore excluded from the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share.
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Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000 

15. Commitments for 

expenditure
(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Committed expenditures that have not been 

provided for in the financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment

Not longer than 1 year 659 7,221 - -

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - 607 - -

Longer than 5 years - - - -

659 7,828 - -

Exploration expenditure

Not longer than 1 year 8,177 22,805 - -

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 6,549 21,584 - -

Longer than 5 years - - - -

14,726 44,389 - -

These commitments represent Tap’s share of joint venture commitments. The commitments for exploration expenditure 

include the minimum expenditure requirements of various government regulatory bodies and joint ventures that the 

Consolidated Entity is required to meet in order to retain its present permit interests. These obligations may be subject 

to renegotiation, may be farmed out or may be relinquished. No amounts have been included for permits where an 

application for renewal has been made to the designated authority and is pending.

(b) Lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

16. Leases
Operating leases

Leasing arrangements

The Consolidated Entity has non-cancellable operating leases for the following:

(i) Office premises – the premises lease expires on 31 January 2013.

(ii) Woollybutt operations – the FPSO vessel lease contract is currently one year to 5 May 2011 and can be renewed on 

a yearly basis.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Non-cancellable operating lease 

commitments

Not longer than 1 year 9,368 9,416 418 404

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 4,058 10,497 939 1,229

Longer than 5 years - - - -

13,426 19,913 1,357 1,633
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17. Segment information
The Consolidated Entity has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 with effect from 1 January 2009. AASB 8 requires operating segments to be 

identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by the 

chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. In contrast, 

the predecessor Standard (AASB 114 Segment Reporting) required an entity to identify two sets of segments (business 

and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the entity’s system of internal financial reporting to key 

management personnel serving only as the starting point for the identification of such segments. As a result, following the 

adoption of AASB 8, the identification of the Consolidated Entity’s reportable segments has changed.

Amounts reported for the prior period have been restated to conform to the requirements of AASB 8. The accounting 

policies of the new reportable segments are the same as the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policies.

The Consolidated Entity derives its revenue from the sale of oil & gas.

Information reported to the Consolidated Entity’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation 

and assessment of performance is focussed on the separate divisions managed by each individual member of senior 

management. Based on this the Consolidated Entity’s reportable segments under AASB 8 are as follows:

Oil & gas production and development

Oil & gas exploration

Third party gas

The Oil & gas production and development segment includes the assets moved from the exploration phase to the 

development phase. This segment also includes the producing assets. Current production includes oil & gas. This 

segment is managed by the Engineering and Development Manager.

The Oil & gas exploration segment includes all the areas of interest still in exploration phase. This segment primarily 

incurs the exploration expenditure in the Consolidated Entity. The segment is managed by the Exploration Manager.

The Third party gas segment includes the purchases and sale of gas. The gas purchases are based on contracted 

quantities and sales are done via agreements with customers or in certain instances via market sales. The segment is 

managed by the Commercial Manager.

The Third party gas segment was not disclosed as a reportable segment in the 30 June 2009 half-year financial report, 

as it was aggregated in the Oil & gas production and development segment. The inclusion of the Third party gas segment 

as a reportable segment has no impact on the financial result at 31 December 2009.
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Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results by reportable operating segment for the 

periods under review:

Revenue Segment profit

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Oil & gas production and development 39,634 47,965 8,562 7,973

Oil & gas exploration - - (4,527) (23,805)

Third party gas 18,384 13,417 7,496 6,073

58,018 61,382 11,531 (9,759)

Interest revenue 889 2,771

Finance costs - (548)

Central administration costs (1,783) (5,869)

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (3,047) 8,227

Other income 413 678

Profit before tax 8,003 (4,500)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (1,328) (3,046)

Profit for the year 6,675 (7,546)

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by each segment or loss made by each segment without the allocation 

of centralised administration expenses, recoveries of administration expenses recognised on a Consolidated Entity level, 

interest revenue, foreign exchange gains/losses and income tax expenses/benefits.

The revenue represents liquids and gas sales to external customers with no intersegment sales during the period. 

Included in revenues arising from direct sales of third party gas of $18.384 million (2008: $13.417 million) are revenues 

of $16.857 million (2008: $6.922 million) which arose from sales to the Consolidated Entity’s largest third party gas 

customer.

Included in the segment profit is an amount of $5.657 million (2008: $9.049 million) for repairs to the Varanus Island 

operating facilities and an amount of $5.476 million (2008: Nil) relating to the Woollybutt FPSO life extension project. 

These expenses are attributed to the Oil & gas production and development segment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s assets and liabilities by reportable operating segment for the 

periods under review:

Assets Liabilities

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Oil & gas production and development 128,132 146,293 36,630 39,202

Oil & gas exploration 117,017 102,486 1,684 5,027

Third party gas 9,466 8,439 3,650 1,625

Total segment assets and liabilities 254,615 257,218 41,964 45,854

Unallocated assets and liabilities 61,609 57,747 50,583 52,849

Consolidated total assets and liabilities 316,224 314,965 92,547 98,703

For the purpose of measuring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief operating 

decision maker monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each segment. All assets and liabilities 

are allocated to reportable segments except for tax-related assets and liabilities and other financial assets and liabilities.
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17. Segment information (cont’d)

Other segment information

Depreciation and 
amortisation

Additions to  
non-current assets

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Oil & gas production and development 22,270 16,849 4,265 12,853

Oil & gas exploration - - 16,368 71,804

Third party gas - - - -

Other 408 537 227 319

22,678 17,386 20,860 84,976

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation expense reported above, exploration expenditure write-downs of $2.052 

million (2008: $0.655 million) and impairment losses of $0.132 million (2008:$20.519 million) were recognised in respect 

of exploration assets. These exploration asset write-downs and impairment losses were attributable to the Oil & gas 

exploration segment. There were no other material non-cash expenses attributable to individual segments.

Insurance proceeds of $23.241 million were received during the year. The proceeds were recognised as other income 

and were attributable to the Oil & gas production and development segment. Refer to note 2(c) for further detail.

Geographical information

The Consolidated Entity operates in two principal geographical areas – Australia and Asia.

Revenue from external 
customers

Non-current assets

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Australia 58,018 61,382 189,577 203,199

Asia - - 41,785 32,205

58,018 61,382 231,362 235,404
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18. Interests in jointly controlled operations and assets

Name of operation Principal activity
Output interest

2009 2008

Producing permits

TL/1,5,6,9 Harriet Joint Venture Oil and gas exploration and production 12.22% 12.22%

WA-25-L Woollybutt Joint Venture Oil and gas production 15.00% 15.00%

Exploration permits

The Consolidated Entity has interests in numerous jointly controlled operations and assets in Australia, one licence 

in the Philippines and one licence in the Islamic Republic of Brunei. A full list of the licences and permits held by the 

Consolidated Entity is included in the annual report of Tap Oil Limited.

Joint Venture net assets

The Consolidated Entity’s share of assets and liabilities in jointly controlled operations is detailed below. The amounts 

are included in the consolidated financial statements in their respective categories:

Consolidated

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Current assets

Cash 4,565 1,024

Receivables 8,767 4,469

Inventories 6,209 8,568

Total current assets 19,541 14,061

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 116,766 134,190

Deferred exploration expenditure 113,911 100,336

Total non-current assets 230,677 234,526

Total assets 250,218 248,587

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 4,753 8,531

Total current liabilities 4,753 8,531

Non-current liabilities

Provisions for restoration 25,782 21,165

Total non-current liabilities 25,782 21,165

Total liabilities 30,535 29,696

Net assets 219,683 218,891

Revenues 58,018 61,153

Cost of sales (46,637) (34,567)

Other expenses (i) (12,285) (9,049)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (ii) (904) 17,537

(i) Relates to the Varanus Island repairs and the Woollybutt FPSO life extension project. Refer to note 2(f).

(ii) Profit/(loss) before income tax does not include other income of $21.687 million (2008: Nil) that relates to the settlement of the 

Harriet Joint Venture Varanus Island insurance claim as this was a Company policy and therefore was not part of the jointly 

controlled operation. Refer to note 2(c) for more information.

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities

The capital commitments arising from the Consolidated Entity’s interests in jointly controlled operations are disclosed in 

note 15. No contingent liabilities have been identified beyond those set out in note 26.
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19. Subsidiaries

Name of entity
Country of 

incorporation

Ownership interest

2009 
%

2008 
%

Parent entity

Tap Oil Limited (i) Australia

Subsidiaries (ii)

Tap (Harriet) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Tap West Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Tap (Shelfal) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Tap (New Zealand) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Tap Oil (Philippines) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Tap Energy (Borneo) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Tap (Ghana) Pty Ltd (iii) Australia 100 100

Tap Oil (Ghana) Ltd (iv) Ghana 100 100

Tap Energy (Rangkas) Pty Ltd (v) Australia 100 100

(i) Tap Oil Limited is the head entity of the tax-consolidated group.

(ii) All direct subsidiaries of Tap Oil Limited are members of the tax-consolidated group. Tap Oil (Ghana) Ltd is thus not 

part of the tax-consolidated group.

(iii) Tap (Ghana) Pty Ltd was incorporated on 11 February 2008. 

(iv) Tap Oil (Ghana) Ltd was incorporated on 6 October 2008. It is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap (Ghana) Pty Ltd. 

(v) Tap Energy (Rangkas) Pty Ltd was originally named Tap Energy (India) Pty Ltd, which was incorporated on 9 April 

2008. The name change occurred on 17 November 2009.
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20. Notes to the cash ! ow statement
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and cash 

held in joint ventures.

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 59,438 54,045 29,321 12,370

(b) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit for the 

period to net cash ! ows from operating 

activities

Profit/(loss) for the year 6,675 (7,546) (5,451) (5,359)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current 

assets 22,678 17,386 408 537

Foreign exchange loss/(gains) 5,728 (1,885) 1,083 (102)

Equity settled share-based payment 712 447 712 447

Exploration expenditure write-downs 2,052 655 - -

Exploration impairment losses 132 20,519 - -

Non-cash interest expense 825 777 - -

Finance costs paid - 548 - 548

Allowance for non-recovery of debt of subsidiary - - 293 -

Other non-cash expenses 40 - 12 -

Increase/(decrease) in current tax liability 3,293 (296) 3,293 (296)

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances (1,388) 4,097 639 (707)

Changes in net assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables (1,122) 3,498 (492) 584

Current inventories 2,416 (782) - -

Other current assets (1,594) (632) 812 (759)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables (10,204) 1,161 (2,866) 1,789

Employee Provisions 2 (105) 2 (105)

Unearned Revenue 1,443 - - -

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 31,688 37,842 (1,555) (3,423)
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21. Financial instruments
(a) Capital risk management

The Company and Consolidated Entity manage its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 

The capital structure of the Company and Consolidated Entity consists of equity attributable to equity holders, 

comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.

The Company and Consolidated Entity’s risk management committee reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. 

As a part of this review the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. 

Based on recommendations of the committee the Company and the Consolidated Entity will balance its overall capital 

structure through new share issues and share buy-backs; as well as the issue of debt.

The Company and Consolidated Entity’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2008.

The Company as and when required borrows from subsidiaries.

The Company and Consolidated Entity have no external debt outstanding at 31 December 2009.

(b) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 

financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

(c) Categories of financial instruments

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 59,438 54,045 29,321 12,370

Loans and receivables 9,885 8,763 49,248 51,319

Other - - 31,753 31,753

Financial liabilities

Trade & other payables 18,411 30,515 1,362 4,228

Other - - 19,287 1,769

(d) Financial risk management objectives

The Consolidated Entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 

speculative purposes. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Consolidated Entity’s policies approved by the 

Board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives.

The Consolidated Entity’s operations expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in crude oil prices and foreign 

currency exchange rates. The Consolidated Entity may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage 

its exposure to crude oil price and foreign currency risk, including:

forward oil price contracts;

forward foreign exchange contracts.

(e) Oil price risk management

The Consolidated Entity’s oil and condensate production is sold on spot crude oil markets and hence has exposure to 

crude oil price fluctuations. Oil price exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward oil price 

swap contracts and potentially other hedging instruments. 

It is the policy of the Consolidated Entity not to enter into forward oil price contracts for more than 60% of forecast oil and 

condensate production. In 2009 no forward oil price contracts were entered into (2009: Nil).
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Oil Price sensitivity

The following table details the consolidated entities’ sensitivity to a 10% and 20% increase and decrease in the oil price. 

Sensitivities to such possible movements are used when reporting oil price risk internally to key management personnel 

to represent management’s near term assessment of the possible change in oil prices. The sensitivity analysis below 

includes current year sales levels varied by a 10% and 20% movement in the Company’s average Australian dollar oil 

price. A positive number indicates an increase in profit where the oil price increases.

Oil Price Impact

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Profit or loss: 10% 3,096 4,958 - -

Profit or loss: 20% 6,191 9,916 - -

(f) Foreign currency risk management

The Consolidated Entity sells all oil and condensate production and some gas in US dollars and hence has exposure to 

exchange rate fluctuations. The Consolidated Entity further pays its portion of the Asian Joint Venture expenses in US 

dollars. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange 

contracts and currency swap agreements.

It is the policy of the Consolidated Entity not to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts for more than 60% of 

forecast free foreign exchange net inflows. 

In 2009 no forward foreign exchange contracts were entered into (2008: Nil).

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to foreign currency balances is contained in the table below:

Consolidated Assets Liabilities

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

US dollars 20,274 32,350 2,191 9,534

Company Assets Liabilities

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

US dollars 12,192 3,831 - 35

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Consolidated Entity is mainly exposed to US dollars (USD).

The following table details the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to a 10% and 20% increase and decrease in the Australian 

dollar against the US dollar. Management considers foreign exchange sensitivity when reporting foreign currency risk 

internally to key management personnel. Management continually monitors exchange rate forecasts and assesses the 

impact of possible changes in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis only includes outstanding foreign currency 

denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% and 20% change in foreign currency 

rates. A positive number indicates an increase in profit where the Australian dollar weakens against the US dollar.

US Dollar Impact

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Profit or loss: 10% 1,808 2,944 1,219 498

Profit or loss: 20% 3,617 5,888 2,438 996
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21. Financial instruments (cont’d)
(g) Interest rate risk management

The Consolidated Entity is subject to interest rate risk exposure through its cash and cash equivalents. The Consolidated 

Entity is currently not exposed to interest rate risk on borrowings as it has no borrowings. 

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on exposure to interest rates at the reporting date and 

the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the year. A 50 

basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and 

represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates. 

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, 

the Consolidated Entity’s profit or loss will be impacted as follows:

Interest rate Impact

Consolidated Company

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Profit or loss: 50 basis points increase 296 339 145 117

Profit or loss: 50 basis points decrease (296) (339) (145) (117)

(h) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a sales customer or counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to the Consolidated Entity. 

The Consolidated Entity has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy customers and counterparties. Receivable 

balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Consolidate Entity’s exposure to bad debts is not 

significant.

The Consolidated Entity may at times have a high credit risk exposure to a single customer in relation to oil liftings or gas 

sales. The above-mentioned credit risk management procedures are followed in these instances. Of the total receivables 

balance of $9.885 million in the Consolidated Entity at 31 December 2009, $5.291 million relates to a single debtor based 

on an oil lifting. This outstanding receivable has been received after year-end and prior to the date of the financial report. 

There was no such concentration of debtors as at 31 December 2008.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited as the counterparties are banks with high 

credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents 

the Consolidated Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

(i) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of directors, who built an appropriate framework 

for the management of the Consolidated Entity’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management 

requirements. The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching 

maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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Maturity profile of financial instruments

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date the 

Consolidated Entity can be required to pay. The following table details the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to liquidity risk:

Consolidated

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate

Less than  
1 month

1-3  
months

3 months  
to 1 year

1-5  
years

Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009

Financial Assets

Non-interest bearing 9,885 - - - 9,885

Variable interest rate 1.15% 11,984 - - - 11,984

Fixed interest rate 3.91% 22,610 24,442 140 262 47,454

44,479 24,442 140 262 69,323

Financial Liabilities

Non-interest bearing 18,411 - - - 18,411

2008

Financial Assets

Non-interest bearing 8,763 - - - 8,763

Variable interest rate 2.01% 13,015 - - 262 13,277

Fixed interest rate 1.63% 40,768 - - - 40,768

62,546 - - 262 62,808

Financial Liabilities

Non-interest bearing 30,515 - - - 30,515

Company

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate

Less than  
1 month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1-5 
years

Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2009

Financial Assets

Non-interest bearing 1,040 - - - 1,040

Variable interest rate 2.04% 2,996 - - - 2,996

Fixed interest rate 3.35% 11,150 14,773 140 262 26,325

Other - Non-interest bearing 48,208 - - 31,753 79,961

63,394 14,773 140 32,015 110,322

Financial Liabilities

Non-interest bearing 1,362 - - - 1,362

Other 19,287 - - - 19,287

20,649 - - - 20,649

2008

Financial Assets

Non-interest bearing 548 - - 50,771 51,319

Variable interest rate 1.84% 6,796 - - - 6,796

Fixed interest rate 1.63% 5,574 - - - 5,574

Other - Non-interest bearing 31,753 - - - 31,753

44,671 - - 50,771 95,442

Financial Liabilities

Non-interest bearing 4,228 - - - 4,228

Other 1,769 - - - 1,769

5,997 - - - 5,997
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21. Financial instruments (cont’d)
(j) Fair value of financial instruments

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial 

liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates their fair values. 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid 

markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; 

the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted 

pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis; and

the fair value of derivative instruments, included in hedging assets and liabilities, are calculated using quoted prices.

The following tables detail the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities:

Consolidated

Carrying amount Fair value

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 59,438 54,045 59,438 54,045

Trade and other receivables 9,885 8,763 9,885 8,763

69,323 62,808 69,323 62,808

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 18,411 30,515 18,411 30,515

Company

Carrying amount Fair value

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2008 
$’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 29,321 12,370 29,321 12,370

Trade and other receivables 1,040 548 1,040 548

Other 79,961 31,753 79,961 31,753

110,322 44,671 110,322 44,671

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,362 4,227 1,362 4,227

Other 19,287 1,769 19,287 1,769

20,649 5,996 20,649 5,996
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22. Share-based Payments
The Company is undertaking a comprehensive review of its remuneration policies and practices. This review is yet to be 

completed. The remuneration arrangements outlined below are likely to change as a result of this review.

Tap currently has the following share-based payment schemes: 

(a) Tap Employee Incentive Option Plan;

(b) Tap Executive Director Option Plan;

(c) Tap Oil Management Incentive Option Plan; and

(d) Tap Employee and Director Share Plan.

(a) Tap Employee Incentive Option Plan

Under the provisions of the Tap Employee Incentive Option Plan (“Option Scheme”) the directors may at such times as 

they determine issue invitations to employees (full-time or part-time) and non-executive directors of the Company or its 

controlled entities (“Participants”) to apply for options for no consideration. It is at the discretion of the directors which 

Participants will be issued invitations to apply for options pursuant to the Option Scheme and the number of options the 

subject of the invitation.

All options issued to employees vest two years after grant date and expire three years after grant date. Options held by 

an employee who ceases employment are automatically cancelled.

The exercise price of the options equals the average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Australian Stock 

Exchange during the last ten trading days on which the Company’s shares were traded immediately preceding the option 

grant date, plus ten percent, subject to a minimum exercise price of 50 cents.

All shares issued on exercise of the options will rank equally in all respects with the Company’s fully paid ordinary shares. 

The Company will apply for quotation of all shares issued upon the exercise of options.

No options under this scheme have been issued to non-executive directors since 2001.

During the reporting period options were issued under this Scheme as noted in the table below.

(b) Tap Executive Director Option Plan

Under the provisions of the Tap Executive Director Option Plan (“Option Plan”) the Company will issue options to 

executive directors as part of the long term incentive arrangements in accordance with certain terms and conditions.

All options issued vest one year after grant date and expire five years after grant date.

The exercise price of the options equals the average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Australian Stock 

Exchange during the last five trading days on which the Company’s shares were traded immediately preceding the option 

grant date.

All shares issued on exercise of the options will rank equally in all respects with the Company’s fully paid ordinary shares. 

The Company will apply for quotation of all shares issued upon the exercise of options.

The first options were issued under this scheme in 2005.
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22. Share-based Payments (cont’d)
(c) Tap Oil Management Incentive Option Plan

Under the provisions of the Tap Oil Management Incentive Option Plan (“Management Option Plan”) the Company 

will issue options to managers as part of the long term incentive arrangements in accordance with certain terms and 

conditions. The options expire three years after grant date.

 Under the Management Option Plan, options issued vest in accordance with performance conditions set by the 

Board prior to the date of grant. Under current Board policy the number of options vesting on the expiry of a two year 

performance period shall be determined by the absolute share price growth over the two year period in accordance with 

the following vesting scale. All options currently on issue were granted under this Board policy.

Absolute Growth Hurdle % of Management Options Vested

Less than 20% growth 0%

Greater than or equal to 20% and 

less than 60% growth
Pro-rata between 50-100%

Greater than or equal to 60% growth 100%

The exercise price of the options equals the average closing price of the Company’s shares on the Australian Stock 

Exchange during the last five trading days on which the Company’s shares were traded immediately preceding the option 

grant date plus twenty percent, subject to a minimum exercise price of 50 cents.

All shares issued on exercise of the options will rank equally in all respects with the Company’s fully paid ordinary shares. 

The Company will apply for quotation of all shares issued upon the exercise of options.

The first options were issued under this scheme in 2008.

The following options were granted during the current and prior period and are included in share-based payments:

Grant date Number Plan Expiry date
Exercise  
price $

Fair value at  
grant date $

2009

07/04/2009 133,200 (a) 07/04/2012 1.04 0.32

23/01/2009 731,551 (a) 23/01/2012 0.83 0.25

23/01/2009 2,007,793 (c) 23/01/2012 0.90 0.08

2008

25/11/2008 37,600 (a) 25/11/2011 0.61 0.22

25/11/2008 300,000 (c) 25/11/2011 0.66 0.07

3/09/2008 10,800 (a) 3/09/2011 1.25 0.34

3/09/2008 300,000 (c) 3/09/2011 1.37 0.10

14/07/2008 335,000 (b) 14/07/2013 1.53 0.65

14/07/2008 1,400,000 (c) 1/01/2011 1.86 0.15

14/07/2008 90,800 (a) 14/07/2011 1.71 0.53

9/04/2008 59,541 (a) 9/04/2011 1.78 0.59

29/01/2008 536,000 (b) 29/01/2013 1.61 0.63

29/01/2008 764,500 (a) 29/01/2011 1.77 0.52
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The volume weighted average fair value of the share options granted during the financial year is $0.13 (2008: $0.34). 

Options issued were valued using the Black and Scholes model with an option life of 2.5 years with vesting after two 

years. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility in the previous year and the risk free interest rate 

based on the Reserve Bank of Australia’s 180 day Bank Bill rate, both as quoted on the date of issue of the options. An 

additional discount factor is applied to the plan (c) options as they have hurdles that must be met as a condition of vesting.

2009

Inputs into the model

Option series (by expiry date)

23/01/2012 23/01/2012 07/04/2012

Grant date share price $0.75 $0.75 $0.95

Plan (c) (a) (a)

Exercise price $0.90 $0.83 $1.04

Expected volatility 56% 56% 56%

Option life 2.5yr 2.5yr 2.5yr

Dividend yield - - -

Risk-free interest rate 3.34% 3.34% 3.21%

2008

Inputs into the model

Option series (by expiry date)

1/01/2011 29/01/2011 9/04/2011 14/07/2011 3/09/2011 3/09/2011 29/01/2013 14/07/2013 25/11/2011 25/11/2011

Grant date  

share price $1.53 $1.62 $1.68 $1.53 $1.08 $1.08 $1.62 $1.53 $0.60 $0.60

Plan (c) (a) (a) (a) (c) (a) (b) (b) (a) (c)

Exercise price $1.86 $1.77 $1.78 $1.71 $1.37 $1.25 $1.61 $1.53 $0.61 $0.66

Expected volatility 52% 46% 49% 52% 49% 49% 46% 52% 57% 57%

Option life 2.25yr 2.5yr 2.5yr 2.5yr 2.5yr 2.5yr 3.0yr 2.5yr 2.5yr 2.5yr

Dividend yield - - - - - - - - - -

Adjustment factor 33% - - - 33% - - - - 33%

Risk-free  

interest rate 8.00% 7.42% 8.06% 8.00% 7.16% 7.16% 7.42% 8.00% 3.95% 3.95%

The following reconciles the outstanding share options granted at the beginning and end of the financial year:

2009 2008

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Number of 
options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$

Balance at beginning of the financial year 6,526,503 1.74 4,558,473 1.98

Granted during the financial year 2,872,544 0.89 3,834,241 1.63

Forfeited during the financial year (391,619) 1.43 (1,306,211) 1.94

Exercised during the financial year (i) - - - -

Expired during the financial year (835,000) 2.22 (560,000) 2.45

Balance at end of the financial year (ii) 8,172,428 1.41 6,526,503 1.74

Exercisable at end of the financial year 2,827,762 1.71 1,764,400 2.12
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22. Share-based Payments (cont’d)
(i) Exercised during the financial year 

There were no options exercised during the 2009 or 2008 financial years. 

(ii) Balance at end of the financial year  

The share options outstanding at the end of the financial year had exercise prices in the range $0.61 to $2.75 

and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 598 days (2008: 760 days). 

(d) Tap Employee and Director Share Plan 

Under the provisions of the Tap Employee and Director Share Plan (“Share Plan”) the Company may from time to time 

issue offers to permanent full-time employees and non-executive directors of the Company (“Participants”) to acquire fully 

paid ordinary shares in the Company on market as a component of their remuneration. 

The three main purposes of the Share Plan are:

(i) the Share Plan is available to all employees, executive directors and non-executive directors on a salary  

sacrifice basis;

(ii) to facilitate short term and long term incentive payments of executive directors; and

(iii) to facilitate non-executive director’s remuneration in the form of shares vesting after ten years or on ceasing to be a 

director, whichever occurs first.

The Company has purchased shares on market under the Share Plan for non-executive directors in 2009 and 2008, 

details of which are included in note 23 to the financial statements. Shares were also purchased on behalf of employees 

in accordance with Tap’s long term incentive program. 

During the year there were 486,089 shares granted to employees as compensation under the share plan at a weighted 

average fair value of $0.82. Such grants have no vesting criteria apart from tenure and as such the fair value of a granted 

share is calculated as the share price on the date the shares are purchased by the Company. 
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22. Key management personnel compensation
After consideration of the nature of each employee’s role within the Company, in the opinion of the Board the Company 

had the following key management personnel during the financial year:

Non-executive Directors

N F Taylor (Chairman)

P B Lane 

M J Sandy

D W Bailey (Non-executive Director from 11 November 2009) 

P W Underwood (Executive Director to 30 June 2008, Non-executive Director from 1 July 2008, resigned 21 June 

2009)

Senior Executives

P J Stickland (Managing Director since 11 February 2009; CEO since 1 January 2008)

D A Neaves (Commercial Manager)

B M Ulmer (Operations Manager)

D J Rich (Chief Financial Officer)

J Scibiorski (Exploration Manager)

R A Cassie (New Ventures Manager)

There were no changes in appointments after the reporting date.

The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity and the Company is set  

out below:

Consolidated Company

2009 
$

2008 
$

2009 
$

2008 
$

Short-term employee benefits 2,782,301 2,495,810 2,782,301 2,495,810

Post-employment benefits 278,891 446,948 278,891 446,948

Other long-term benefits - - - -

Termination benefits - - - -

Share-based payments 799,444 1,293,644 799,444 1,293,644

3,860,636 4,236,402 3,860,636 4,236,402
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24. Related party transactions
(a) Equity interests in related parties

Equity interests in subsidiaries

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.

Equity interests in jointly controlled operations and assets

Details of interests in jointly controlled operations and assets are disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements and in the 

remuneration report disclosed in the Directors report.

(c) Key management personnel equity holdings

Fully paid ordinary shares of Tap Oil Limited

2009

Balance @ 
1/1/09

Granted as 
remuneration 

(i)

Received on 
exercise of 

options

Net other 
change 

(iii)

Balance held 
directly & 

indirectly @ 
31/12/09

Balance held 
nominally 
(indirectly)

No. No. No. No. No. No.

Non-executive Directors

N F Taylor 111,272 - - 20,212 131,484 131,484

P B Lane 1,058,497 - - (49,895) 1,008,602 988,601

M J Sandy 39,367 - - 10,105 49,472 49,472

D W Bailey - - - - - -

P W Underwood (ii) 2,018,442 - - (44,319) 1,974,123 1,628,206

Executives

P J Stickland 174,595 56,289 - 13,540 244,424 244,424

D A Neaves 27,075 7,506 - 19,240 53,821 45,071

B M Ulmer 40,233 5,945 - - 46,178 46,178

D J Rich 26,071 - - - 26,071 26,071

J P Scibiorski 14,712 2,682 - - 17,394 17,394

R A Cassie 18,289 4,678 - - 22,967 22,967

3,528,553 77,100 - (31,117) 3,574,536 3,199,868

2008

Balance @ 
1/1/08

Granted as 
remuneration 

(i)

Received on 
exercise of 

options

Net other 
change 

(iii)

Balance held 
directly & 

indirectly @ 
31/12/08

Balance held 
nominally 
(indirectly)

No. No. No. No. No. No.

Non-executive Directors

N F Taylor 64,185 - - 47,087 111,272 111,272

P B Lane 1,204,963 - - (146,466) 1,058,497 1,038,496

M J Sandy 15,833 - - 23,534 39,367 39,367

P W Underwood 2,069,017 - - (50,575) 2,018,442 1,622,525

Executives

P J Stickland 107,555 48,939 - 18,101 174,595 174,595

D A Neaves 8,750 18,325 - - 27,075 27,075

B M Ulmer 22,753 17,480 - - 40,233 40,233

D J Rich - 26,071 - - 26,071 26,071

R J Aden 5,156 7,178 - (12,334) - -

R Hall 32,001 - - (32,001) - -

J P Scibiorski - 14,712 - - 14,712 14,712

R A Cassie 12,376 5,913 - - 18,289 18,289

3,542,589 138,618 - (152,654) 3,528,553 3,112,635

(i) Shares are bought on-market for executives, pursuant to the Tap Employee and Director Share Plan, as part of their remuneration. Further 

details of this Share Plan are contained in note 22(d).

(ii) P W Underwood’s share position is as at 21 June 2009 being the date of his resignation as a director. 

(iii) Represents shares obtained through salary sacrifice, as well as shares sold and purchased on the market. In respect of R J Aden and R Hall it 

represents the shares not vesting at the date of resignation.
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Options in ordinary shares of Tap Oil Limited

2009

Balance @ 
1/1/09

Granted 
as remu-
neration

Exercised
Net other 
changes

Balance @ 
31/12/09

Vested @ 
31/12/09

Vested 
but not 

exercise-
able

Vested and 
exercise-

able

Vested 
during 
year

No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

N F Taylor - - - - - - - - -

P W Underwood 1,585,400 - - - 1,585,400 1,585,400 - 1,585,400 871,000

P B Lane - - - - - - - - -

M J Sandy - - - - - - - - -

D W Bailey - - - - - - - - -

Executives

P J Stickland 535,000 65,620 - (75,000) 525,620 250,000 - 250,000 250,000

D A Neaves 688,000 786,373 - (75,000) 1,399,373 150,000 - 150,000 150,000

B M Ulmer 695,100 545,749 - (75,000) 1,165,849 160,000 - 160,000 160,000

D J Rich 300,000 - - - 300,000 - - - -

J P Scibiorski 351,000 246,225 - - 597,225 - - - -

R A Cassie 570,300 429,446 - - 999,746 150,000 - 150,000 150,000

4,724,800 2,073,413 - (225,000) 6,573,213 2,295,400 - 2,295,400 1,581,000

2008

Balance @ 
1/1/08

Granted 
as remu-
neration

Exercised
Net other 
changes

Balance @ 
31/12/08

Vested @ 
31/12/08

Vested 
but not 

exercise-
able

Vested and 
exercise-

able

Vested 
during 
year

No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No.

Directors

N F Taylor - - - - - - - - -

P W Underwood 714,400 871,000 - - 1,585,400 714,400 - 714,400 375,000

P B Lane - - - - - - - - -

M J Sandy - - - - - - - - -

Executives

P J Stickland 575,000 210,000 - (250,000) 535,000 75,000 - 75,000 75,000

D A Neaves 275,000 463,000 - (50,000) 688,000 75,000 - 75,000 75,000

B M Ulmer 485,000 460,100 - (250,000) 695,100 75,000 - 75,000 75,000

D J Rich - 300,000 - - 300,000 - - - -

R J Aden 200,000 24,700 - (224,700) - - - - -

R Hall 150,000 - - (150,000) - - - - -

J P Scibiorski - 351,000 - - 351,000 - - - -

R A Cassie 150,000 420,300 - - 570,300 - - - -

2,549,400 3,100,100 - (924,700) 4,724,800 939,400 - 939,400 600,000

All shares and share options issued to key management personnel during the financial year were made in accordance 

with the provisions of the share-based payment schemes referred to in note 22.

During the 2009 and 2008 financial years, no options were exercised by key management personnel for ordinary shares 

in Tap Oil Limited.

Further details of the share-based payment schemes and of share options granted during the financial year are contained 

in note 22 to the financial statements. 
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24. Related party transactions (cont’d)
(d) Transactions with other related parties

Other related parties include the parent entity, jointly controlled operations in which the entity is a venturer and 

subsidiaries.

Amounts receivable from and payable to these related parties are disclosed in notes 7 and 11 to the financial statements. 

All loans advanced to and payable to related parties are unsecured, have no fixed repayment dates and are interest-free. 

Transactions involving the parent entity

During the financial year, Tap Oil Limited charged $6.576 million (2008: $0.719 million) to its wholly-owned subsidiaries for 

their tax payable in relation to the tax funding agreement – refer note 3. 

During the financial year, Tap Oil Limited provided management and personnel services to its subsidiaries and jointly 

controlled operations. The total cost of the services provided was $8.193 million (2008: $6.161 million).

Consolidated Company

2009 
$

2008 
$

2009 
$

2008 
$

25. Remuneration of 

auditors
Auditor of the parent entity

Audit or review of the financial report 134,000 130,800 128,625 130,800

The auditor of Tap Oil Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

26. Contingencies
Gas Sale Agreement with Burrup Fertilisers

On 28 December 2006, Tap (Harriet) Pty Ltd, together with the other Harriet Joint Venture (HJV) sellers, issued a notice 

of force majeure in relation to the gas reservation requirements of the HJV under the Gas Sales Agreement with Burrup 

Fertilisers Pty Ltd (Burrup Fertilisers) entered into in December 2001 (GSA). Tap has a 12.2229% interest in the HJV and a 

corresponding interest as a gas seller under the GSA. At present, the HJV has not identified sufficient proven reserves of 

gas in order to supply its contracted share of all of the requirements of Burrup Fertilisers for the remaining duration of the 

GSA (approximately 20 years). The events described in the notice of force majeure include the failure of exploration and 

development wells. 

The HJV continues to supply gas in accordance with the terms of the GSA and anticipates being able to continue to 

supply its share of gas to Burrup Fertilisers under the GSA for a further period of approximately 4 years. The actual 

duration and extent of supply is subject to uncertainties such as field performance and ongoing exploration and 

development activities in the Harriet area.

Under the GSA the effect of force majeure is to suspend the affected party’s obligations under the agreement to the 

extent that party is unable to perform the same. A party affected by force majeure is not liable for any failure or liability to 

perform obligations in circumstances of force majeure.

Tap has filed proceedings in the Supreme Court of Western Australia seeking a declaration to confirm that in the event it 

is determined that there was no force majeure event, any potential future liability for a shortfall in supply under the GSA 

is limited to the liquidated damages set out in that agreement. Burrup Fertilisers has filed a defence and counterclaim 

in relation to this matter disputing force majeure and for breach of contract seeking general damages in certain 

circumstances where there is a shortfall in gas supply.

The GSA contains a schedule which provides for annual liquidated damages in the event of a shortfall of gas supply.  

For illustrative purposes, a maximum amount of US$1.1 million to US$1.5 million per year of liquidated damages is 

payable in the event of a total shortfall in gas supply. Based on current reserves, Tap’s maximum liability for liquidated 

damages would be approximately US$20 – 25 million in total.
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Varanus Island Incident

On 3 June 2008, a gas pipeline ruptured on Varanus Island causing an extended disruption to gas deliveries from the 

facilities. Each of the licensees in the HJV (including Tap) have been charged by the Department of Mines and Petroleum 

with failing to maintain the gas pipeline. Tap has pleaded not guilty to this charge, which carries a maximum individual 

penalty of $10,000. Tap plans to vigorously defend this charge.

Civil claims from third parties may arise from the incident. To date, Tap has not been notified of any such claims and as 

such, these matters cannot be quantified. Tap maintains third party liability insurance which may be relevant to any claims 

which may arise.

27. Subsequent events
Since the end of the financial year the directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with 

within the financial report that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the 

results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial years.

28. General information
Tap Oil Limited is a listed public company, incorporated in Australia.

Tap Oil Limited’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows:

 Registered office Principal place of business 

 Level 1, 47 Colin Street Level 1, 47 Colin Street 

 West Perth, WA, 6005 West Perth, WA, 6005 

 Ph: (08) 9485 1000 Ph: (08) 9485 1000
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1. NUMBER OF EQUITY HOLDERS

Ordinary Share Capital

156,485,921 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 8,123 individual shareholders.

Options (Non-Employee)

Other than options issued under the Tap Oil Employee Incentive Option Plan, the Tap Oil Management Incentive Option Plan and 

the Tap Oil Executive Director Option Plan, no options were on issue at the date of this report.

2. VOTING RIGHTS
In accordance with Article 5 of the Company’s Constitution, on a show of hands every shareholder present in person or by proxy, 

attorney or representative of a shareholder has one vote and on a poll every shareholder present in person or by proxy, attorney 

or representative of a shareholder has in respect of fully paid shares, one vote for every share held. No class of option holder has 

a right to vote, however, the shares issued upon exercise of options will rank pari passu with the then existing issued fully paid 

ordinary shares.

3. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Holdings No. of Shareholders

1 to 1,000 1,783

1,001 to 5,000 3,905

5,001 to 10,000 1,355

10,001 to 100,000 1,016

100,001 & over 64

Total 8,123

4. UNMARKETABLE PARCELS
There were 641 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares in the Company.

5. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial shareholders as disclosed in substantial shareholder notices given to the Company and/or the records maintained by 

the Company’s share registry are as follows:

Name Shares %

M&G Investment Management 20,440,493 13.1

TIG Advisors 16,330,027 10.4

Dimensional Fund Advisors 9,311,789 6.0

Shareholder Information 

as at 26 February 2010



T
a
p

 O
il   A

n
n
u
a
l R

e
p

o
rt 2

0
0
9

94

6. THE 20 LARGEST HOLDERS OF ORDINARY SHARES

Name Shares %

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 29,891,539 19.10

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSCO ECA 19,579,370 12.51

National Nominees Limited 11,993,393 7.66

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 9,522,395 6.09

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 8,331,650 5.32

ANZ Nominees Limited  <Cash Income A/C> 3,539,018 2.26

Bond Street Custodians Limited <Officium Emerging Res A/C> 2,253,788 1.44

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS Developing Companies A/C> 2,028,233 1.30

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/C 3 1,472,856 0.94

Weswood Pty Ltd <Paul Underwood Family A/C> 1,429,767 0.91

Ms Margaret Packer 1,002,234 0.64

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 949,751 0.61

Queensland Investment Corporation 754,214 0.48

Hedon Pty Ltd 746,372 0.48

Keepa Pty Ltd <Keepa Investment A/C> 705,000 0.45

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 671,317 0.43

Berne No 132 Nominees Pty Ltd <376804 A/C> 667,534 0.43

Mario Traviati 667,064 0.43

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 593,475 0.38

Tap Oil Share Plan Pty Limited 527,417 0.34

TOTAL 97,326,387 62.19
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Directors

N F Taylor  

Independent Non-executive Chairman

P J Stickland 

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

D W Bailey  

Independent Non-executive Director

P B Lane  

Independent Non-executive Director

M J Sandy  

Independent Non-executive Director

Company Secretary 

M M Worner

Registered Office

Level 1, 47 Colin Street 

WEST PERTH  WA  6005

Telephone: +61 8 9485 1000 

Facsimile: +61 8 9485 1060 

Email: info@tapoil.com.au 

Website: www.tapoil.com.au

Share Registry

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 

Level 2, 45 St Georges Terrace 

PERTH  WA  6000 

Telephone: +61 8 9323 2000

Auditors

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

Level 14, 240 St Georges Terrace 

PERTH  WA  6000

Stock Exchange Listing

Australian Securities Exchange 

ASX Code – TAP

Bankers

Bank of Western Australia 

Level 6, 108 St Georges Terrace 

PERTH  WA  6000

CitiGroup Pty Limited 

2 Park Street 

SYDNEY  NSW  2000

St George Bank 

Level 11, 152-158 St Georges Terrace 

PERTH  WA  6000

Corporate Directory
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